

SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND MANAGEMENT

# The paradox of entrepreneurship:

how emplotment of the self provides confirmation in the face of anxiety

MSc Managing People, Knowledge and Change

Sharon Postma & Suzanne Regterschot 24-05-2019

Supervisor: Monika Müller Examiner: Sverre Spoelstra

## Abstract

This study explores how narrative identity construction of young entrepreneurs is influenced through sensemaking processes based on storytelling. In order to do so, this study has been conducted with eleven participants of an entrepreneurial hub. This entrepreneurial hub is actively engaged in training and developing skills of young entrepreneurs. The participants in our study were considered young both in age as well as in terms of experience within entrepreneurship, and therefore provided a suitable scope for this thesis. The research setting was established in cooperation with the municipality and entailed a storytelling workshop for value congruence. Interviews have been conducted with all eleven participants at two different moments in time, both before and after the storytelling workshop in order to obtain rich data and address our research question. To increase our understanding in sensemaking processes, observations were conducted during the workshop. The results of our research show that the entrepreneurs' narrative identity was influenced by both interpresonal as well as intrapersonal sensemaking processes. We argue that sensemaking, amongst others, occurred through four layers which we identified as the entrepreneurial sphere, entrepreneurial hub, teams and the self. Consequently, these sensemaking processes affected the entrepreneurs' (narrative) identity construction.

**Keywords:** Storytelling, Sensemaking, Narrative Identity Construction, Self Emplotment, Entrepreneurship.

# Acknowledgements

This part in our master's thesis is reserved to express our gratitude to the people who have supported and guided us during the process of writing.

First, we would like to thank Monika Müller, our thesis supervisor, for her guidance and feedback. She has provided us with valuable feedback and new insights throughout the process of writing this thesis.

Secondly, we would like to thank the municipality and particularly our contact person Katarina. We are extremely grateful that her passion for helping (young) entrepreneurs has provided us with the appropriate research setting. Besides that, we would like to express our gratitude towards the entrepreneurs who actively engaged in the workshop and helped us by devoting enough time to participate in the workshop and supporting interviews for our research project.

We would also like to take this opportunity to thank Bobby, who provided us with insight in coaching, discursive training and dialogical approaches. Thank you for your time, support, and your passion for sharing this knowledge.

Finally, we would like to thank Yiannis Gabriel for his provided feedback and encouragements.

Sharon Postma & Suzanne Regterschot

# Table of contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Table of contents	4
1. Introduction	6
1.1. Introduction to the research topic	6
1.2. Research background	7
1.3. Research objective	9
1.4. Case	10
1.5. Delimitations	11
1.6. Disposition	12
2. Literature Review	13
2.1. Storytelling in organisations	13
2.2. Storytelling in entrepreneurship	16
2.3. Sensemaking through storytelling and narratives	21
2.4. Narrative identity and entrepreneurship	25
2.5. Chapter summary	28
3. Methodology	29
3.1. Research context and site	29
3.2. Research philosophy	31
3.3. Research approach	33
3.4. Data collection	34
3.4.1. Interviews	34
3.4.2. Observations	36
3.5. Data analysis	37
3.6. Limitations	39
3.7. Chapter summary	39
4. Results	41
4.1. Finding oneself in the entrepreneurial sphere	41
4.1.1. Not following the normal path	41
4.1.2. Not being a misfit	42

4.1.3. Being a wreck	43
4.1.4. Images of entrepreneurship	44
4.1.5. Yearning to create something	45
4.1.6. Is it all about making money?	46
4.2. Being an entrepreneur in a network	50
4.2.1. I finally fit in	50
4.2.2. Sea full of sharks	51
4.3. The team, a melting pot of different perspectives	51
4.3.1. Working alone is tragic	52
4.3.2. I have been blinded	52
4.3.3. Glasses	53
4.3.4. See where everybody is coming from	55
4.4. Storytelling and identity co-creation	56
4.4.1. Research as therapy	56
4.4.2. What we are expected to want	57
4.4.3. Who am I?	58
4.4.4. The computer understands me!	59
4.4.5. Values became mine	60
4.5. Conclusion	62
5. Discussion	63
5.1. Sensemaking based on storytelling	63
5.2. Storytelling as both individual and collective activity	64
5.3. Identity motivates behaviour	66
5.4. Narrative identity construction	68
5.5. Conclusion	69
6. Conclusion	71
6.1. Research contribution	71
6.2. Future research	73
Appendix A - Interviewees	75
Reference list	76

## 1. Introduction

In this chapter, we will introduce the topic of our thesis. First, a short overview of the theoretical background will be given, followed by an overview of key concepts used throughout the thesis as well as an outline of our case. Our research objective will be elaborated upon by means of explaining the research gap, delimitations and the formulated research question. Lastly, a disposition is provided which aims to serve as a guideline for readers.

#### 1.1. Introduction to the research topic

Storytelling has become the preferred sensemaking currency in organisational life (Boje, 1991; Brown, Gabriel & Gherardi, 2009). So, when accepting an ontology in which the world is considered to be socially constructed, people make sense through their social interactions (Checkel, 1999). As Brown et al. (2009) identified, not everyone is able to convey a story from which the listeners are able to make sense. Nevertheless, these writers do argue that this skill can be acquired by learning. Especially in the field of entrepreneurship, learning how to convey a story from which listeners are able to make sense appears to be crucial as this field is characterised by its non-linearity and erraticity, still facing a high failure rate among new ventures (Kalyanasundaram, 2018). In order to decrease these failure rates, Kalyanasundaram (2018) states that it is important for entrepreneurial learning may be through storytelling as it benefits problem-solving and effectiveness, while O'Connor (2004) refers to how storytelling might be used for other purposes a well, for example to enhance branding and legitimisation efforts as these two are crucial in the first phase of new venture creation.

In essence, entrepreneurship can be seen as the creation of an organisation (Gartner, 1989) in which individuals detect, evaluate and take advantage of opportunities (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000). To refer to these organisations in this thesis, we use the terms new venture, startup and first phases of entrepreneurship intertwined. Karp (2006) defines entrepreneurs as the creators of value and meaning around opportunities and claims they do this through "constructing mental frameworks concerning resources, relationships, and assets needed to engage in entrepreneurial activity" (p.296). As we take the stance in which people are in a constant process of

sensemaking, action and communication are found to be continuously shaping and reshaping entrepreneurs' identity (Bruner, 1990; Weick, 1995). Self-identity can be described as an understanding of the self with regards to this person's biography (Giddens, 1991). This understanding of the self can be enhanced through life story approaches (Johansson, 2004) or narrative methodology (Rae, 2000), as creating a personal biography involves plotting previous experiences into a personal story, meaning that one makes sense of how self-identity is shaped. Here, we take the standpoint that by doing this, one can engage in constructing one's narrative identity (Watson, 2009).

#### 1.2. Research background

The relationship between storytelling and academia has long been ambiguous, until the twentieth century, when a range of scientific fields expressed a growing interest in stories and storytelling (Gabriel, 2000). Where before stories were perceived as irrelevant within scientific fields, its power was discovered later. As a result, the role of stories came into existence as ''factories of meaning'' due to their potential to construct, transform and sustain meaning from experiences (Gabriel, 2000, p.4). Due to the increased multidisciplinary interest in stories and storytelling, the concept of storytelling has developed into something which can be applied to practically everything and nothing at the same time (Alvesson, 2010). As storytelling in contemporary society is spread over a vast amount of disciplines, we will scope the definition by employing the form of storytelling derived from Gabriel (1995) and Weick (1995), who claim that stories function to attribute meaning to experiences.

In the field of organisational studies, storytelling was also seen as increasingly important. Subsequently, many scholars examined the effect storytelling has both within and on organisations (e.g. Boyce, 1996; Martens, Jennings & Jennings, 2007; Rae & Carswell, 2000; Rhodes & Brown, 2005; Vance, 1991), and several writers emphasise how storytelling can trigger and drive organisational change (Adamson, Pine, van Steenhoven & Kroupa, 2006; Driver, 2009; Brown et al., 2009; Gioia & Chittipeddi, 1991; Gioia & Thomas, 1996; Kolb, 2003). Other research examined the role of storytelling in learning (Gray, 2007; Martens & Jennings, 2009; Morgan, Pittenger & McIntyre, 2018; Taylor, Fisher & Dufresne, 2002). Besides

that, the relation of learning and (narrative) identity construction (Illeris, 2014) as well as life stories and its effect on one's identity (Watson, 2009) are relevant to our study, nevertheless, little research has been conducted on this matter related to entrepreneurship.

As we aim to look into the meaning of a storytelling workshop regarding narrative identity construction of young entrepreneurs, our research has a specific scope. When looking at the role of storytelling in entrepreneurship, a vast number of researchers highlight the importance of storytelling in resource acquisition and branding (e.g. Bettiol, di Maria & Finotto, 2012; Carr & Lapp, 2009; Garud, Schild & Lant, 2014b; Manning & Bejarano, 2017; O'Connor, 2004). Nevertheless, little research considered storytelling in relation to entrepreneurial learning (Rae, 2000; Rae & Carswell, 2000; Warren, 2004a) even though both the importance of entrepreneurial learning as well as the role of storytelling have been acknowledged. Especially in the first stages of entrepreneurship, both branding and learning can be considered equally important as entrepreneurial learning is said to influence entrepreneurial performance (Rae & Carswell, 2000) and branding ensures the new venture to stand out (Bettiol et al., 2012). Rae and Carswell (2000) argue that it is important for entrepreneurial performance to understand one's learning events in order to derive meaning from these and enable effective decision making.

When looking at entrepreneurial skills and behaviour, sensemaking has been found to be an important topic among researchers. In this paper, we will adopt the term sensemaking as Weick (1995) refers to it, namely ''the making of sense'' (p.4) of both individual and social activities. We use this definition as it acknowledges the social interactions through which individuals create and shape meaning (Dunford & Jones, 2000; Weick, 1995). To date, some research has been conducted on the sensemaking processes of entrepreneurs (e.g. Hill & Levenhagen, 1995; Nicholson & Anderson, 2005), especially in the envisioning of a new venture and its legitimisation (Cornelissen & Clarke, 2010; Garud, Gehman & Giuliani, 2014a; Mitchell, Randolph-Seng & Mitchell, 2011; Wood & McKinley, 2010). As this legitimisation has been proven to be crucial in the survival of new ventures (O'Connor, 2004), it is of importance to gain insight in this process and explore how this can be learned. To summarise, as sensemaking enables the making sense of situations and experiences in life, it increases meaning of situations and events for an individual. Here, we argue that sensemaking can be considered crucial in

entrepreneurial learning through storytelling as it enhances the understanding of oneself through plotting previous experiences in life. Additionally, sensemaking has been found to result in entrepreneurial performance and decision making, as well as increase legitimisation and entrepreneurial effectiveness (Rae & Carswell, 2000). Thus, the importance of the abovementioned made us wonder why, to date, little research has been conducted. Merging topics such as entrepreneurship, storytelling, sensemaking and (narrative) identity construction will therefore provide the foundation for our research as we are trying to gain insight in the meaning of a storytelling workshop for young entrepreneurs on their sensemaking processes and narrative identity construction.

#### 1.3. Research objective

Looking into the development of entrepreneurial learning through storytelling or narrative approaches asks for a different approach towards entrepreneurial learning. However, existing research in the field of entrepreneurial learning is, to date, considered scarce. Moreover, even though entrepreneurial learning is nowadays recognised as important, the role storytelling and/or narratives play in this process has not been taken into consideration adequately yet. Most research on entrepreneurship can be traced back to how legitimisation can be obtained, how storytelling may evolve into storyselling, and how entrepreneurs should use storytelling in branding. However, it should be mentioned that even though obtaining legitimisation is proven to be crucial for startups to survive (O'Connor, 2004), to date, researchers have not succeeded to gain explicit insight in how this exactly can be learned, as there is not one formula for success within entrepreneurship. Because there is no set formula for success, we argue that it is crucial for an entrepreneur to have an understanding of the self to provide direction for a new venture. When consulting the existing literature on this matter, we found that research has addressed the close interaction between learning and identity construction (Illeris, 2014), as well as how life stories may affect one's identity (Watson, 2009) and how identity influences one's sense of direction (Alvesson, Ashcraft & Thomas, 2008). However, existing research seems to be lacking in how these concepts could be applied to entrepreneurship.

While all of the abovementioned studies have significantly enhanced research in the fields of storytelling, entrepreneurship, identity or sensemaking, and some of them even have succeeded

in combining two or more concepts, a perspective which takes into consideration all of these seems to be missing. Even though a consensus is present among writers that recognise the importance of topics such as storytelling and identity construction through social interactions, our research aims to enhance the existing literature by bringing the mentioned topics together and gain insight in the sensemaking processes through storytelling and its effect on narrative identity construction of (young) entrepreneurs.

By merging topics from fields such as storytelling, entrepreneurship, sensemaking and identity construction, our aim is to understand how entrepreneurs construct their narrative identity through storytelling. The purpose of this thesis is therefore not to develop any new theories, but to enhance the existing research with new insights in how storytelling may serve as a vehicle for narrative identity construction among (young) entrepreneurs. This implies that we will investigate how, by means of a storytelling workshop, young entrepreneurs reflect on their life experiences and through the exercises in the workshop, increase understanding of their life story and consequently themselves. We feel this increased understanding might contribute to entrepreneurial effectiveness and new venture success. By conducting interviews and observations we aim to collect sufficient and rich data to address the gap in the existing research by bringing together the topics sensemaking, storytelling and narrative identity within entrepreneurship. We aim to do this by answering the following research question:

• How does sensemaking, based on storytelling, influence narrative identity construction of young entrepreneurs?

#### 1.4. Case

The young entrepreneurs that have been selected for our research are small entrepreneurial teams and individuals from Starthub, a Swedish entrepreneurial hub located in Southern Sweden. These entrepreneurs are part of an incubator program and considered to be in the first phase of starting their own company. This entails that all of the selected entrepreneurs are establishing their product and defining their target group. Since 2001, Starthub has been part of the entrepreneurial scene and since then offered over 150 startups the chance to work alongside an appointed business coach and enjoy perks such as trainings and a shared office space through their one-year program. The entrepreneurial hub describes themselves as a 'greenhouse for new ideas' with their main focus on entrepreneurs that are new to the entrepreneurial sphere. These entrepreneurs can either earn a spot in their program through municipality-organised events, or by applying via their website. Most entrepreneurs in the program are university students working part-time on their business idea. A collaboration with Starthub was established through the municipality, who works closely with Starthub on a diverse range of events, such as workshops, pitching competitions and funding initiatives. The reason for the collaboration between the municipality and Starthub is the benefit of extended network both parties gain from collaborating. In this case, a representative of the municipality hosted a workshop on storytelling and values in order to create value congruence for the young entrepreneurs. The aim was to create understanding in the self and others and create an authentic identity in order to increase the chances of success.

#### 1.5. Delimitations

With regards to our thesis, four delimitations have been identified. First, the aim of this thesis is to provide new insights within the fields of storytelling and narrative identity construction, both applied to the field of entrepreneurship. Therefore, we do not question the concepts themselves, but apply them to the field of entrepreneurship and focus on how sensemaking processes developed through using storytelling as a vehicle for conversation, during which young entrepreneurs engaged in learning through storytelling, creating their biography and establishing a narrative identity. Secondly, in line this, we acknowledge that there are many factors influencing sensemaking and narrative identity construction. Nevertheless, in this thesis, we intend to scope these influences to influences within entrepreneurship. Therefore, only factors within this specific case and scope will be elaborated on. Third, during the workshop storytelling was used as a tool by using one's personal values to trigger sensemaking processes and aimed to enhance value congruence among both team members and customers. Therefore, it is important to recognise that we do not argue that by using this tool value congruence among different levels is created, but that it creates insights in how storytelling could be used to enhance value congruence. This is in line with the motivation of the municipality who was responsible for organising the workshop, as their aim was to achieve value congruence and team alignment. Here we would like to point out that, thus, the aim of the workshop differs from the aim of our research. By knowing one's personal values and by actively working with the values of those

involved in the entrepreneurial journey, such as team members, customers and stakeholders, it creates a starting point for discussion. Hence, we do not argue that this is the best way to do so, neither do we claim it to be a means to an end. Finally, as we as researchers interpret the different realities of our participants in a certain way, this thesis is our interpretation of our participants' reality. Thus, we would like to acknowledge that we as researchers can be considered as biased as we use our preunderstanding, experiences and knowledge when interpreting others' realities, expressed in this thesis as our understanding of one's reality.

#### 1.6. Disposition

Chapter 2 provides an overview of the theoretical background for this thesis and provides the foundation for the following chapters. Here, key concepts such as storytelling in organisations, storytelling in entrepreneurship, sensemaking and narrative identity will be elaborated upon. Chapter 3 entails the methodological choices we have made to enhance and maximise the results of our thesis. Here, the research context and site will be explained, followed by the research philosophy and approach. Furthermore, the data collection methods are described as well as how the obtained data was analysed. Finally, the limitations of the research design are outlined through a reflexive and critical stance. In chapter 4, the empirical material is presented and discussed. We have presented the empirical material by means of the four levels which were discovered and through which sensemaking affects the narrative identity construction of entrepreneurs. Chapter 5 discusses our findings in relation to the already existing literature and presents a critical view on how these both correlate and differ in certain areas. Finally, chapter 6 summarises our findings and entails an overall conclusion to our thesis. Moreover, it discusses our contribution to the research field and provides opportunities for future research.

#### 2. Literature Review

This chapter provides the theoretical framework that serves as the theoretical foundation. The three main topics discussed are storytelling, sensemaking and narrative identity construction. More specifically, the chapter elaborates on the role and importance of storytelling in organisations and entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial sensemaking and the position of narrative identity within entrepreneurship. These topics will be shortly summarised at the end of this chapter.

#### 2.1. Storytelling in organisations

Storytelling can be understood as both an individual as well as a collective activity (Boje, 2001) and plays an important role in (organisational) life (Bietti, Tilston & Bangerter, 2018). According to Lewis (2011), story and storytelling are both cognitive processes as well as products of cognition. In this context, cognitive processes shape the stories, whereas the latter refers to the story as a product of those processes. As stories bear beliefs, values and ideas as well as experience and emotions (Gabriel, 2000; 2015), they are able to influence the reality people perceive to be true (Brown et al., 2009). Stories are recognised as one of the most powerful communication tools, and as a result, they are inherent in organisational life and are often considered to be ''vehicles of communication management'' (Kaye, 1995, p.1) for organisational members.

Gabriel (2000) argues that, even though not all writers are consciously doing this, a distinction should be made in the terms of stories and narratives in order to gain a clear understanding of both terms. Czarniawska (2004) claims that everything can be considered a narrative, but refers to narratives as spoken or written text that give "account of an event/action or series of events/actions [that are] chronologically connected" (p.2). She focuses on narratives as purely chronological accounts and argues for stories as emplotted narratives. In line with this, one could argue that, whereas stories can be used to interpret events through meaning and emotion, narratives are factual or descriptive excerpts of these events which hint towards objectivity rather than emotions (Gabriel, 2000). Kearny (2002) notes that narratives itself are both socially constructed as well as the basis for constructing different realities. This implies that narratives

are both results of, as well as means to an end in constructing these different realities. In this thesis, the notion by Gubrium and Holstein (1998) will be adopted which entails that (personal) narratives comprise the interplay of discursive actions and storytelling. Thus, in other words, through storytelling and discursive actions, which are the verbal descriptions of events, narratives are formulated. These narratives can be seen as the sequence of stories which cause the story to be positioned in the correct order. Stories, in turn, bear meaning and emotion and are rather subjective as there are multiple factors that can change the meaning of a story, such as the storyteller, characters, chronicles and plot (Gabriel, 2000). Plots can create different versions of a sequence of events (Sköldberg, 1994), resulting in different stories, and, in turn, shaping these stories into a meaningful whole (Czarniawska, 2004). In this thesis, stories are used to create a personal narrative, thus, plotting oneself and one's experiences through storytelling. Through doing so, a narrative identity can be established (Warren, 2009).

According to Vance (1991), organisational storytelling can occur in two ways. The first is informal and uncoordinated, whereas the second refers to a deliberate and planned tool. In an informal way, storytelling can foster bonds in social units, also within organisations (Bietti et al., 2018). As Boje (1991) found, stories are crucial for employees' worklife as they are effective means in offering relevant and understandable information. Organisational stories as powerful communication tools can be deliberately used by organisational members to enhance communication, socialising and sensemaking purposes (Boje, 1991; Boyce, 1996; Brown et al., 2009), knowledge, learning (Gabriel, 1995; Rhodes & Brown, 2005), new meaning creation, understanding, commitment generation (Brown, 1982 cited in Boyce, 1996), social control, symbolising, identity construction and power (Brown, 2006; Brown et al., 2009; Gabriel, 1995; Rhodes & Brown, 2005). Additionally, Vance (1991) argues that storytelling used as a tool has a positive impact on individual learning and organisational performance.

As argued by many writers in the field of storytelling (e.g. Bietti et al., 2018; Boje, 1991; Brown et al., 2009; Gabriel, 2000), storytelling is often considered to be the preferred sensemaking currency in contemporary society, thus, also in organisations. Bietti et al. (2018) state that the "sensemaking function of storytelling is [the] means by which [its] other functions are realised"

(p.2). Thus, these authors argue that individuals make sense of both ordinary and uncertain situations through communication as this either protects or modifies their world views.

Gabriel (1995) discovered that stories may strengthen one's identity, which is in line with Kearny (2002), who claims that one cannot create a personal identity without stories. Allcorn and Stein (2016) found that storytelling can be used for individuals to understand themselves and to be understood by others, as the first function of storytelling is to stimulate sensemaking (Bietti et al., 2018) through which people create a sense of who they are. It is an individual's history, persona and identity which make up the stories that are being told about oneself and that are being told by others (Baker & Boyle, 2009). Through creation and re-creation, stories become part of one's identity, and in turn, indirectly, of a group's culture. Therefore, it is safe to say that storytelling can be considered ''one of the most human of activities'' (Baker & Boyle 2009, p.80) and a fundamental element of culture (Brown et al., 2009). This is important in an organisation because storytelling influences organisational culture, whether it happens unconsciously or consciously (Boje, 1991), due to its ability to enhance relationships.

The power to co-create meaning is a noteworthy and distinctive characteristic of stories as the way in which these stories are created and re-told by different people in different contexts adds layers and elements to the story being told (Boje, 1991; Boyce, 1996; Gabriel & Connell, 2010). During times of turbulence and change, but also in times of information overload, stories can serve as an effective means of sensemaking (Brown et al., 2009; Gabriel and Connell, 2010; Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003) by enabling people to develop a shared understanding of the circumstances (Morgan et al., 2018). When the right knowledge is shared at the right moment in the right context, stories are even argued to ''economically communicate experience, ideas and emotions and help make sense of potentially perplexing situations'' (Gabriel & Connell, 2010, p.507). This is mainly due to the close connection between change and storytelling as they are both occupied with ''describing, understanding and explaining complicated processes with multiple characters'' (Brown et al., 2009, p.325).

Even though it can be argued that storytelling is interwoven in all aspects of human life, stories also have the power to undermine and destroy the meaning of others (Gabriel, 2000). Through

power struggles, different contexts and grand discourses affecting one's self-esteem, individuals might have a hard time to express their meaning and to be heard (Brown et al., 2009). Their stories might be challenged, rejected or ignored by others (Alvesson, 2010). Bietti et al. (2018) argue that skilled storytellers are likely to use stories to their advantage, transforming them into a persuasive means, when, for example, conveying a message or selling a product.

Listeners, as argued by Boje (1991), are the co-producers of the story that is told and are often overlooked when considering their importance in the exchange of the story. These sensemaking processes work through one's collective and cultural beliefs regarding what can be considered as acceptable truth in one's thought world (Baker & Boyle, 2009). When a listener is able to make sense of the story and fill in the 'gaps between the lines' with their own experiences and demonstrates cues such as head nods, the co-production of a story increases as sensemaking processes take place. Through this bidirectional process, both the teller and listener engage in active construction of meaning-making and co-production of the story told (Boje, 1991). Thus, arguably, both the teller and listener increase their understanding of the story that is told as storytelling is an interactive phenomenon (Baker & Boyle, 2009). According to Morgan et al. (2018), "listeners provide the context that can impact the level of support experienced by the storyteller" (p.181). Psychological studies have shown that the relationship between the teller and the listener should however be taken into consideration when attempting to make sense or give sense through a story (McAdams & McLean, 2013). When both parties are in a close relationship, there is a larger chance of engaging in the story and creating a shared memory (McLean & Pasupathi, 2011). Thus, if a story is told to people that are significantly important to one and these people engage in a collective meaning-making process, the individual is more likely to incorporate the story into his or her own view who they are and who they aspire to be (McAdams & McLean, 2013).

#### 2.2. Storytelling in entrepreneurship

In essence, entrepreneurship can be seen as the creation of an organisation (Gartner, 1989) in which individuals detect, evaluate and take advantage of opportunities (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000). In order to do so, several writers (e.g. Gaglio, 2004; Kaish & Gilad, 1991) argue that entrepreneurs have different behaviours than other people in society. They search for a broader

meaning (Karp, 2006) and dream of things that are still waiting to be invented, take opportunities and attempt to gain market acceptance (Gaglio, 2004). Although there is also research contradicting these labels, we consider them to be an important influence on the perspective of entrepreneurship in contemporary society. Read and Sarasvathy (2005) note that entrepreneurs are seen as "instruments in the birth and growth of firms" (p.49). In line with this, Karp (2006, p.292) defines entrepreneurs as "people who change certain conditions in order to create value around perceived opportunities, either within an existing enterprise or as a new venture". They do this through "constructing mental frameworks concerning resources, relationships, and assets needed to engage in entrepreneurial activity" (Karp, 2006, p.296). In contemporary society, entrepreneurship is considered "a driver for economic change" (Warren, 2004, p.3) and has a large impact on the, amongst others, societal, cultural and economic development of countries (Rae, 2000). Steyaert (1988) describes entrepreneurship as "a creative process enacted through everyday practices" (p.15). He argues that entrepreneurship is an ongoing process – a journey with surprises and unpredictable patterns, which therefore pursues and creates its own story.

In the tough and unstable environments businesses and entrepreneurs operate in (Kalyanasundaram, 2018), the importance of storytelling has increased as new business ventures and ideas are "constantly exposed to reactions from diverse audiences on both traditional and internet-based platforms" (Manning and Bejarano, 2017, p.195). In order to satisfy this increased number of stakeholders through different media, stories and narratives might help to contextualise and attach meaning to entrepreneurial ideas (Garud et al., 2014b; Manning & Bejarano, 2017). Bettiol et al., (2012) claim that entrepreneurs are actively constructing interpretive frameworks, which, when made explicit through discursive practices, attract consumers and stakeholders. In other words, when entrepreneurs are able to convey appealing messages (in the form of a story), this can enhance attraction of stakeholders. Garud et al. (2014a) and Bettiol et al. (2012) take this concept a step further and argue that discursive practices, such as stories, can be used to reach out to stakeholders, help form structures and drive action such as marketing activities. In relation to this, Garud et al. (2014b) even found that entrepreneurial stories can help acquiring resources through setting goals, expectations and conveying value.

When entrepreneurs are able to convey their stories successfully to their external environment, stories can evolve into something which Carr and An (2011) refer to as storyselling. When stories are perceived as legitimate, they can lead to the acquisition of new resources for the organisation (Carr & Lapp, 2009). As West and Anthony (2000) suggest, creating a trance-like state can enhance the receptiveness of listeners. This state is reached when there is a level of trust between the teller and listener, but even more important is whether the listener can make sense of the story being told. That is, if the story is perceived as authentic and relatable. In other words, these stories may become the basis for legitimacy, offering external stakeholders a framework to make sense of the entrepreneurs' actions (O'Connor, 2004; Suchmann, 1995).

Larty and Hamilton (2011) point out it is only since recently that researchers within the fields of entrepreneurship and small business have adopted narratives and its importance (Hamilton, 2006; Johansson, 2004). When entrepreneurs possess the skills, also called narrative competence (O'Connor, 2002), to position themselves as the main character in their own stories, they may increase their credibility and legitimacy with, among others, customers and investors (Garud et al., 2014b). However, this legitimacy is only reached through external validation (Middleton-Stone & Brush, 1996), but to date, little is known about the way legitimacy is acquired (Maclean, Harvey & Chia, 2011). However, Maclean et al. (2011) do argue that in order to acquire this legitimacy, it is crucial to use narratives, which can, in turn, create the image of legitimacy for external stakeholders (Garud et al., 2014b; O'Connor, 2004).

As it is argued that entrepreneurial learning mainly occurs through past experiences (Warren, 2004a), Johansson (2004) argues that the best way to describe these past experiences is through storytelling. As the stories told are lived by the entrepreneurs themselves, they have the power to create a shared understanding among external stakeholders, but also for the entrepreneurs themselves (Rae, 2000). By telling stories in which entrepreneurs play a leading role, they arguably increase their understanding of who they are (Martens & Jennings, 2009). Thus, this implies that when entrepreneurs actively work on their self-identity, this might subsequently drive certain behaviours. In addition to this, Burke (1991) and Marcussen and Lange (2003) claim that one's identity motivates behaviour. This might be derived from the fact that identities are claimed to fulfil one's need for self-confirmation (Swann, Pelham & Krull, 1989).

Through the process of entrepreneurial learning, Rae (2000) claims, entrepreneurs ''learn 'who they can be', construct stories of 'who they want to be' and work towards enacting their storied identity" (p.151). This writer also argues that narrative methodology, such as storytelling, can be used to generate new understandings of how entrepreneurial intelligence or skills are developed through learning. Nevertheless, one could say that that it is likely to be beneficial for entrepreneurs to use narrative methodology (Rae, 2000) or life story techniques (Warren, 2004a) in the sensemaking process of entrepreneurs to, among other things, gain insight in learning processes (Cope and Watts, 2000), critical learning events (Deakins & Freel, 1998) or crises (Scott & Bruce, 1987). Since entrepreneurship is characterised as non-linear and erratic, it is crucial to engage in entrepreneurial learning as well as in sensemaking processes, in order to reduce failure rates among startups (Kalayanasundaram, 2018). Looking upon entrepreneurial learning from this way, learning can be considered *becoming* as entrepreneurs actively construct their prospective reality. Thus, one could argue that entrepreneurs learn through narrative methodology and make sense of unpredicted or non-routine events through storytelling (Bietti et al., 2018). Hence, they learn from previous experiences which enable them to use their obtained knowledge in the future.

Scott and Bruce (1987) found that during the early stages of a business, the main values driving the company and providing direction (Churchill & Lewis, 1983) are often those of the founding entrepreneur(s). Thus, it is of importance for these entrepreneurs to have a sense of identity and direction. Several authors (Bala Subrahmanya, 2017; Churchill & Lewis, 1983; Kalyanasundaram, 2018; Politis & Gabrielsson, 2009; Scott & Bruce, 1987) identify the importance of this first stage during which the focus on creating a commercially viable product or service is high. This stage is followed by the second step, which consists of attracting one's target group. Politis and Gabrielsson (2009) also stress the importance of a suitable business concept and Kalyanasundaram (2018) notes that marketing efforts are crucial for brand and awareness creation. Additionally, Steyaert (2007) noticed that entrepreneurs rely on relations and networks to acquire resources in the first stages instead of being entrepreneurial individuals. As entrepreneurs in the early phases of their business find themselves in networks (Steyaert, 2007), this layer has a shaping effect regarding (deeper) learning. Gibb (1997) refers to both

transactional and other (informal) relationships. These may constitute of friends, family, acquaintances (Churchill & Lewis, 1983; Scott & Bruce, 1987), customers, suppliers (Cope, 2003), bankers, accountants and authorities (Warren, 2004a). In line with what Gibb (1997) found, namely that both (informal) network members and entrepreneurs learn and develop through these relationships, Warren (2004a, p.14) suggests that these informal relationships as well as formal mentoring might benefit these networks or groups as this enables both actors to meet contemporary needs and anticipate to future challenges or opportunities.

In these networks, Sugiyama (2001) found that transmission of (cultural) information may enhance second-hand experience for peers and younger generations when communicated through storytelling. In this line of thinking, Bietti et al. (2018) comment that it might enhance success of a group, as it influences predictability of future events. According to Brown (2006) and Bietti et al. (2018), storytelling is an important way for small groups to make sense of unexpected events, which often occur within entrepreneurship or organisations. These authors state that this way of making sense often happens through face-to-face storytelling, and that it is often used in the workplace. In addition, Warren (2004a) argues that networks with both formal and informal relationships, mentors or coaches could adopt life story or narrative approaches (Rae, 2000) to engage entrepreneurs in sensemaking and/or critical reflection processes, resulting in deeper learning.

Warren (2004a) and Rae (2000) stress the importance of life story and narrative approaches as these approaches trigger entrepreneurs' sensemaking processes, which in return might trigger critical reflection, stimulating the reconsideration of current thinking and beliefs (Boud, Keogh & Walker, 1985). According to Cope (2005), these approaches are said to enhance deeper learning. These deeper learning processes takes place when the learner actively participates in the learning process (Cooper, Bottomley and Gordon (2004) as well as when learners are able to link novel ideas to existing cognitive structures (Miley, 2009). Cope (2005) also found that deeper learning often takes place through critical learning events. Engaging in processes of deeper learning (Jones & English, 2004; Miley, 2009), higher level learning (Cope, 2003) (which are considered as similar in this paper) or even transformative learning (Illeris, 2014; Mezirow, 1991) can trigger feelings and emotions (Boud et al., 1985). In other words, when engaging in

reflection and learning from previous events through narrative approaches, emotions might be triggered.

Boud et al. (1985) acknowledge that some, especially deeper, learning processes can become so personal that they influence one's sense of identity, thus has the power to influence the lives of individuals significantly. Thus, not only does engaging in deeper learning through narrative approaches make entrepreneurs link novel ideas to existing structures (Miley, 2009), it might also engage the entrepreneurs in reflection processes, consequently new ways of doing (Boud et al., 1985). As Nicholson and Anderson (2005) claim that ''entrepreneurship is about creating new realities; transforming ideas into new ventures, and transposing old ideas into new situations'' (p.154), sensemaking and sensegiving are important in order to transmit these ideas to other stakeholders. Thus, one could say that entrepreneurial learning through storytelling enables entrepreneurs to reflect on previous experience, which in turn, might engage in deeper learning. This deeper learning might, as explained above, influence the identity of these entrepreneurs, enhancing or inhibiting these entrepreneurs in transmitting their ideas to stakeholders. Here, sensemaking is important in order to convey the ideas accordingly.

#### 2.3. Sensemaking through storytelling and narratives

Literally, sensemaking is understood by Weick (1995) as ''the making of sense'' (p.4) of both individual and social activities. It acknowledges the social interactions through which individuals create and shape meaning (Dunford & Jones, 2000; Weick, 1995). Through these interactions, people attempt to understand matters or incidents that are ''novel, ambiguous, confusing, or in some other way violate expectations'' (Maitlis & Christianson, 2014, p.75). These authors also claim that sensemaking involves active co-creation of situations individuals try to understand. According to Weick, Sutcliffe and Obstfeld (2005) the process of sensemaking is ''ongoing, instrumental, subtle, swift, social and easily taken for granted'' (p.409) and entails the reflexive development of plausible images to make sense of what is happening. Reflexive in this context refers to the bidirectional relationship of making sense, thus, implying that sensemaking is socially constructed. Gioia and Mehra (1996) note that most sensemaking occurs unconsciously through ''assimilation of subtle cues over time'' (p.1229) rather than in a conscious manner. Cues are ''familiar structures that are seeds from which people develop a larger sense of what

may be occurring" (Weick, 1995, p.50). In line with this, Vaara and Monin (2010) argue that sensemaking processes happen continuously and simultaneously. Sensemaking is crucial for the materialising and shaping of meaning through social construction and occurs through using language and communication such as talk (Taylor & van Every, 2000), discussions and gossip (Mills, 2003; Weick et al., 2005). In addition, the use of narratives, stories, discourse and symbols (Bushe & Marshak, 2009; Hambrick & Lovelace, 2018; Sveningsson & Sörgärde, 2013) such as metaphors (Hill & Levenhagen, 1995; Nicholson & Anderson, 2005) are also found to trigger sensemaking processes.

Sensemaking exists as a cognitive phenomenon and occurs in the minds of individuals. Besides a cognitive definition, which originates from cognitive studies, there is also a more theoretical perspective that is often used in organisational studies (Giuliani, 2016). When looking at the latter, this becomes more complex as here not only individual levels of sensemaking are taken into consideration, but also multiple levels of relational sensemaking in, for example, groups (Weick et al., 2005). Sensemaking as cognitive phenomenon is often a tacit and unconscious process occurring in a person's mind (Giuliani, 2016), thus, it can be defined as intrapersonal sensemaking. Weick et al. (2005) and Sonenshein (2007) argue that intrapersonal sensemaking processes often occur unconscious, reflexive and automatic, and in turn influence decision making and action taking. Weick (1995) perceives sensemaking as something we naturally engage in and claims that it influences identity construction and self-perception. He claims that sensemaking is ''an ongoing puzzle undergoing continual redefinition'' (p.20). In addition, Mills (2003) found that meaning created through sensemaking either permeates or constrains the practice of one's identity.

Cornelissen and Clarke (2010) state that sensemaking ''create[s] and [justifies] a rationale for a novel venture'' (p.551). In other words, through sensemaking, entrepreneurs are able to establish and justify their new ventures, both for themselves as well as for their stakeholders. Cornelissen and Clarke (2010) argue that a relationship can be identified between the language and actions of entrepreneurs. Supporting this statement, Mitchell et al. (2011) suggest that entrepreneurs use sensemaking through action-based language to coordinate their thinking processes in social contexts. In line with this, Weick et al. (2005) found that action taking is influenced by

sensemaking which can become a "springboard into action" (p.409). Van Lier (2007) argues that in order to give direction to a new venture, it is important for an entrepreneur to create a self-identity. Furthermore, he argues that it is crucial for entrepreneurs to have a sense of one's position in, and relationship to the world in order to give direction to both themselves and their stakeholders. In line with this, Hill and Levenhagen (1995) argue that entrepreneurs need to gain insight in how their environment works through sensemaking, so they are able to convey their message to others while at the same time gaining advocacy through sensegiving (p.1057).

Sensegiving can be explained as an attempt to control the perceived reality of others (Gioia & Chittipeddi, 1991; Steigenberger, 2015). In order to provide direction to other stakeholders, entrepreneurs need to engage in sensebreaking and sensegiving efforts. Although both sensemaking and sensegiving seem to be different processes, the perimeters are permeating each other and cannot exist independently (Rouleau, 2005). Gioia and Thomas (1996) and Maitlis and Lawrence (2007) argue that through sensegiving, certain realities are legitimised over the account of other realities. Maitlis and Lawrence (2007) also stress that sensegiving is not tied to levels or boundaries within organisations, thus implying that everyone can give sense to others. When individuals become aware of the power their stories or narratives possess, this could lead to significant change in organisations (Bushe & Marshak, 2009) or new venture creations (Manning & Bejarano, 2017).

The role of narrative construction is equally important in sensegiving as in sensemaking, and many authors have defined its interchangeability to be crucial (Bushe & Marshak, 2009; Dunford & Jones, 2000; Gabriel, 2004; Hambrick & Lovelace, 2018; Sveningsson & Sörgärde, 2013; Sonenshein, 2007). When an entrepreneur has made sense of his or her position within a social context, using action-based language might provide the entrepreneur with the ability to stimulate sense breaking and giving for stakeholders. Multiple authors (Cornelissen & Clarke, 2010; Mitchell et al., 2011; Wood & McKinley, 2010) argue that entrepreneurs can use such approaches to be influenced by or to make sense of a situated social context, in order to give sense to the social context in return. Thus, according to these authors, entrepreneurs are able to facilitate collective meaning, or consensus regarding their new venture. Wood and McKinley (2010) suggest that entrepreneurs in this situation are actively shaping their environments due to their ability to make sense of its social structures and processes, and influence the socially

accepted and collectively institutionalised beliefs, thus use sensebreaking to create new opportunities by reaching consensus among stakeholders through sensegiving.

Sensemaking on an interpersonal level, can be addressed as a 'way station on the road to a consensually constructed, coordinated system of action'' (Taylor & van Every, 2000, p.275) or as an 'infrastructure of the decision-making process'' (Giuliani, 2016, p.220). Sensemaking is often used to create meaning in times of uncertainty (Mills, 2003). Consequently, it can be used on an interpersonal level to provide a sense of direction in groups or organisations. Cornelissen (2012) found that the interpersonal sensemaking processes, which are shaped through dialogue, story building, storytelling (Gabriel & Connell, 2010), narratives (Sonenshein, 2010) or argumentation (Green, 2004; Weick, 1995) shape subjective interpretations of reality which in turn influence evaluations of business ideas (Steigenberger, 2015).

To successfully communicate this envisioned future, entrepreneurs need to engage in a sensemaking process first in order to establish an identity and sense of direction. According to Cornelissen and Clarke (2010), the ''social context of speaking and interactions with others affecting the construction of meaning about a new venture" (p.542). Wood and Mckinley (2010) argue that entrepreneurs will engage in a sensemaking process to ''clarify the viability of the envisioned future'' (p.68) through interactions with peers. In line with this, Shepherd and Krueger (2002) stress the importance of both team and individual perspectives and its influence on the perception of feasibility for (new) ventures. Other authors claim that networks (de Carolis & Saparito, 2006) and mentorship (Ozgen & Baron, 2007; Wood & McKinley, 2010) affect opportunity identification, thus, are likely influence success (Mitchell et al., 2011; Warren, 2004a).

On an interpersonal level, two dimensions of sensemaking that happen simultaneously can be identified. In groups that need to act in a coordinated way making sense of puzzling information (Steigenberger, 2015), sensemaking could be a challenge (Gioia & Chittipeddi, 1991; Taylor & van Every, 2000). According to Gioia and Thomas (1996), individuals in groups create different perspectives of an event, dependent on their role within the group. These individuals develop intrapersonal accounts based on their background and previous experiences, resulting in a

diverse range of accounts within one group (Steigenberger, 2015). Weick et al. (2005) claim that these group accounts in turn emerge from the sensemaking accounts of individuals within the group. These authors also argue that the formation of group accounts is a dialogic process of social meaning construction. In other words, through communication, meaning is created which is in turn expressed through communication. Steigenberger (2015) points out that interpersonal sensemaking is a story building process in which individuals express their opinions. According to Gioia and Chittipeddi (1991) this can be an attempt to control the "sensemaking and meaning construction of others toward[s] a preferred redefinition of [...] reality" (p.442). It is through storytelling, Steigenberger (2015) claims, that people attempt to (re)define reality. In line with this, Taylor and van Every (2000) perceive communication itself as an ongoing sensemaking process. These authors, as well as Weick et al. (2005), claim that situations and organisations are "talked into existence" (p.409), providing a symbolic representation of the event, creating the foundation to take appropriate action. Thus, through talking situations into existence, individuals can use their power to shape their own reality as well as those of others. However, this process can be defined as sensegiving (Gioia & Chittipeddi, 1991) rather than sensemaking, as it might be an attempt to gain power (Steigenberger, 2015).

#### 2.4. Narrative identity and entrepreneurship

As stories and narratives help individuals to understand who they are but also influence how others view them (Martens & Jennings, 2009), they have the power to enhance the (self)identity construction of individuals. In order to establish an entrepreneurial identity, people first need to identify themselves with entrepreneurs before becoming one (Down & Warren, 2008; Hytti, 2005). However, research has shown that this might be more difficult than expected due to historically dominant discourses in the field, such as heroics and masculinity (Drakopoulou, Dodd & Anderson, 2007). It is important to note that roles and narrative identity can be considered both facilitators as well as constraints of identity work (Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003).

Multiple writers (Alvesson et al., 2008; Foss, 2004; Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003; Stewart & McDermott, 2004) imply that personal identity should not be seen as something given and static, but rather as something dynamic and evolving throughout one's life. These changes might stem

from social experiences and interactions with different groups who possess certain social norms, deviating from the individuals' own (Warren, 2004b). Through a conscious process of self-reflection, individuals can decide whether or not to comply to certain social norms and systems (Foss, 2004), thus, decide whether they identify or dis-identify with those (Czarniawska, 2002). This self-reflection can be achieved through the use of narrative methods in which the individual reflects on previous experiences, plotting these accordingly into a narrative identity. Gergen (1991) argues that the reason for this, is that people establish their identity in relation to their context and their interpersonal relationships, indicating that they may be dependent on the narratives within their networks which they feel match their personal values. By doing this, one's identity is negotiated and re-negotiated, a process acknowledged by Alvesson et al. (2008) as the ''inevitable personal-social relation'' (p.10) to which an individual is tied in society.

Identity construction takes place through two processes which are known as identity work and identity regulation (Alvesson & Willmott, 2002). Through identity work and identity regulation, one's self-identity is established. The two processes take place simultaneously, even though they might not always be equally important. Identity work can be understood as the active construction of one's self-identity through which individuals form and strengthen, but also revise and repair their identity in situations which might challenge or threaten their sense of identity (Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003). Identity regulation however, consists of the "intentional effects of social practices upon processes of identity construction and reconstruction'' (Alvesson & Willmott, 2002, p.265). Therefore, self-identity can be considered a mode of control (Alvesson & Willmott, 2002) as it is under constant influence of social structures, social contexts and power relations (Alvesson & Due Billing, 2009). While the processes of identity work and identity regulation both influence but are simultaneously being influenced by one's self-identity (Alvesson & Willmott, 2002), it can be understood as "the self as reflexively understood by the person in terms of her or his biography" (Giddens, 1991, p.53), and is thus regarded as the image an individual has of him- or herself, "created and sustained [through] the reflexive activities of the individual" (Giddens, 1991, p.52). Looking upon self-identity from this point of view, it can be best understood as an ongoing project (Giddens, 1991) and not as an achievement (Watson, 2008).

Suchmann (1995) argues that entrepreneurial stories have the key challenge to establish a unique and legitimate identity in the eves of the external stakeholders. To do so, Johansson (2004) favours for the life story approach as this approach stresses the identity construction for entrepreneurs. This is in line with O'Connor (2004), who states that a narrative form, such as the life story approach, represents "an essential logic used by human beings for self-presentation" (p.109). According to Jones, Latham & Betta (2008), the life story creates "a person's retrospective report of past experiences and what they mean to a person" (p.333). This due to the fact that discourses can provide individuals with the needed linguistic resources and concepts during social interactions, which in turn facilitate identity construction in terms of selfunderstanding, meaning, sensemaking and beliefs (Foss, 2004). However, it should be mentioned that according to McAdams and McLean (2013), the concept of identity as a life story is nowadays regarded as a narrative identity as it implies a "person's internalised and evolving life story, integrating the reconstructed past and imagined future" (p.233). By doing so, individuals create their narrative identity through past experiences and intended future in such a way that it provides the individual with purpose and meaning. It is through narrative identity, McAdams and McLean (2013) argue, that individuals are able to convey to both themselves and to others who they are as a person, how they established their 'self', and what they aim for in the future. As the narrative identity partially builds on past experiences, it is argued that narrative identity builds gradually over time through the exchange of stories of individuals to and with others (McAdams & McLean, 2013). McLean, Pasupathi & Pals (2007) argue that over time, individuals create stories, which in turn create selves.

Watson (2001) argues that while some discourses may motivate individuals and could be used as resources in one's identity formation, others might constrain as they imply how one should 'behave' or what might be the 'norm' in a certain context. One example of how a discourse might constrain is presented by Down and Warren (2006), who mention the narrative of an entrepreneur as a heroic figure who nowadays has the power to stimulate national economies. In doing so, the meaning of the word entrepreneur might be taken out of its context and so becomes the new commonly accepted definition. As entrepreneurship can be seen as a constant search for meaning (Karp, 2006), the entrepreneur is in a constant conflict between staying true to him- or

herself and staying true to others while being influenced by dominating discourses, which can in turn lead to anxiety.

As narrative identity is argued to be an inherent part of one's life course and aspired future, McAdams (2018) argues that it integrates different elements such as adopted social roles, attitudes and values. Through their socially constructed reality, individuals act according to this understanding, their beliefs, feelings, intuition and aspired future dreams, and through this process, they make entrepreneurship happen (Karp, 2006). Therefore, through the social construction, beliefs, and motivations, values become visible in the actions of entrepreneurs (Barrett, 2007). Barrett (2007) explains that values are the reflection of one's intrinsic motivation, which, he argues, directly reflect an individual's needs. Values can be understood as that what is important to someone - both through individual and collective ways, such as networks or communities (Barrett, 2007). However, as values are universal, they transcend contexts and are applicable to any group or community (Barrett, 2007) but the behaviours which manifest from the importance of certain values to someone are context dependent. As words, and thus values, may bear different meanings for different people in different contexts, there is a thin line between creating understanding or confusion when attempting to express oneself (Gennari, MacDonald, Postle & Seidenberg, 2007). Throughout one's life course, as is argued before, individuals adopt and change their identity due to numerous reasons (Alvesson & Willmott, 2002; Foss, 2004; Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003). Hence, values change in accordance with changes in identity. In addition, values are considered to be the drivers of one's aspirations and intentions (Barrett, 2007). When individuals are able to satisfy their own needs and work actively on their dreams, they are said to engage in "deeper levels of attention and commitment" (Barrett, 2007, p.62).

#### 2.5. Chapter summary

In this chapter, we have looked at how entrepreneurs are said to have the ability to actively construct interpretive frameworks of possibilities and opportunities, which are useful for the direction of the organisation and to attract consumers and stakeholders. To increase levels of survival among startups, it is argued that the main values that drive a business during early stages, which are often those of the founder(s), should be identified and that storytelling is one

possible way to do so. Besides, by using narrative approaches such as life story techniques, entrepreneurs increase their understanding of themselves and may subsequently increase understandings others have of them. These approaches derive from one's past experiences and trigger reflection and sensemaking processes. Through these processes, entrepreneurs arguably actively create and re-create their self-identity. This is viewed as a spiral, as storytelling enhances sensemaking, learning and identity construction, which in turn, is likely to provide a sense of direction. This sense of direction is in turn 'talked into existence'' (Weick et al., 2005, p.409), triggers action and becomes part of one's aspired future. The aspired future in turn is said to influence entrepreneurs' identity, as they are argued to search for a bigger meaning (Karp, 2006). Finally, the influence of social norms is touched upon, and we have elaborated how roles and narrative identity can be considered both facilitators and constraints of identity work (Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003).

#### 3. Methodology

As our study aims to gain understanding in how a storytelling workshop affect sensemaking processes in the narrative identity construction of young entrepreneurs, this chapter will provide the methodological framework we made use of when both collecting and analysing our gathered data. First, the ontological and epistemological considerations will be discussed in order to allow readers to make sense of why specific methods were chosen. Secondly, the research setting will be discussed as well as the chosen methods for data collection. This is followed by the methods section which elaborates upon how the gathered material was analysed and interpreted. Finally, possible limitations will be outlined and reflected upon.

#### 3.1. Research context and site

Since we decided to work within an entrepreneurial setting, we reached out to the municipality as they work closely together with the entrepreneurial hub, which will here be referred to as Starthub. The specific department of the municipality is active within the entrepreneurial scene and is, amongst others, responsible for pitching competitions and funding initiatives for entrepreneurs who are new to the entrepreneurial sphere, as well as offering workshops to enhance their skills on a broad spectrum. In order to obtain our empirical data, the municipality reached out to Starthub, which is responsible for an entrepreneurial incubator program. The municipality offered the entrepreneurs in the incubator program a workshop on values and storytelling, which accounted for our research setting. In this program, (young) entrepreneurs get the opportunity to work side by side with an appointed business coach to develop their ideas and gain experience in pitching and other relevant facets of entrepreneurship. In this context, the entrepreneurs are considered young both in terms of age and of experience in the entrepreneurial sphere. The incubator program runs for one year, and entrepreneurs either have the possibility to apply for one of the spots or win one during events hosted by the municipality. As most of the workshops organised by Starthub focus on static aspects of entrepreneurship and the entrepreneurs were considered to be new to entrepreneurship, this group of participants was considered to gain significant benefits from such a workshop in storytelling.

In total, eleven entrepreneurs between the age of 20-31 participated in de workshop on values and storytelling. From these eleven entrepreneurs, two were independent entrepreneurs whereas the other participants were all part of teams consisting of no more than three members maximum. Within these teams, all entrepreneurs were regarded as either being founding members or members that are partly responsible for founding the startup they belong to, thus, meaning that some of them have joined the startup later in the process of founding the company, but still before an actual product has been developed. The aim of the workshop was to give the entrepreneurs insight in the value and power of storytelling through the use of one's personal values. As the participating entrepreneurs were all considered to be in the starting phase of setting up their entrepreneurial business, which is defined in the theoretical framework as the stage in which entrepreneurs focus on creating a commercially viable product or service (Kalyanasundaram, 2018), the aim of the workshop was to clarify the entrepreneurs' individual values, their team members' values (when applicable), the goal of their startup, and the perceived values of their external stakeholders. This was done through storytelling, in order to consequently enhance value congruence between all factors and create insights in the different perspectives within a team as well as getting a better understanding of oneself.

In order to enhance value congruence between the above-mentioned factors, the workshop was built upon a method that the municipality uses on a regular basis, which in this thesis will be referred to as StoryValue. StoryValue's goal is to give individuals insight in their personal values, as they argue that these guide priorities and enhance understanding of one's reality. This is done through their online tool in which participants, in this case the entrepreneurs, rank their 'personal values' based on importance. Subsequently, the results of the online value ranking were discussed during the workshop. During the workshop, which lasted approximately five hours, all participants were asked to think of personal stories related to their values, as these would enable them to visualise the values in terms of priorities and behaviours, thus, engaging in sense- and meaning-making processes. This exercise was done within their own team, and in one case together with another (independent) entrepreneur, during which the participants were asked to share their story with their team members, who during that time took on the role of active listener to create a safe and perceptive space to share stories, without interrupting the storytelling entrepreneur.

#### 3.2. Research philosophy

Since our research focuses on the sensemaking processes of young entrepreneurs, it is important to recognise and understand the world-views of ourselves as researchers. These world-views were important to recognise in order to adopt appropriate research methods and traditions for developing insight in the perspectives of the entrepreneurs within our case study. Starting from an ontological perspective which addresses the question whether the studied phenomena only exist objectively or if they are *made real* by the meanings attached to them (Bryman & Bell, 2015), we decided to depart from a social constructionist perspective. The terms social constructivism and social constructionism are often used interchangeably (Bryman and Bell, 2015; Charmaz, 2006; Fletcher, 2006; Young & Collin, 2003), nevertheless both perspectives adopt different lenses. Whereas the former is concerned with how individuals construct their realities through cognitive processes, the latter is concerned with the link between individual constructions and social context (Fletcher, 2006; Harré, 2002).

Due to the fact that our research tries to gain insight in the sensemaking processes during the workshop, which occur through storytelling, we decided to take on a constructionist lens when conducting our research. Harré (2002) notes that using a social constructionist' perspective is appropriate when aiming to gain insight in the 'mental and social lives of human beings'' (p.611). Using this lens also enabled us to view entrepreneurship not as a means to an end, but

allowed us to discover the deeper meanings within social interactions through which the "creation of a living world" is established (Steyaert, 2004, p.11). In other words, as we believe that stories are formulated through social constructions, the context in which these stories are constructed and expressed needs to be considered when making an attempt to interpret them. This is of importance because the context is argued to have a co-constructing influence on meaning of the stories expressed (Boje, 1991). Additionally, in our research we feel that these stories could also possibly influence the narrative identity construction.

As we interpret reality as something unstable, dynamic and constructed through social interactions by different actors, this is in line with Karp (2006) and corresponds to the epistemological position of interpretivism (Bryman & Bell, 2015). This position allowed us to view the social world as something in which reality is constructed through human actions and meaning-making (Bryman & Bell, 2015). In addition, as every individual constructs his or her own reality, we follow Foucault (1982) and Rae (2000) and claim that there is no such thing as one truth, but rather multiple (personal) truths that can be expressed through language. As we are looking at the construction of one's narrative identity through storytelling, which is established in a social context, these truths and meanings are important to consider. In line with this, Young and Collin (2003) note that 'language constitutes rather than reflects reality and is a prerequisite for both thought and a form of social action" (p.377). Using these ontological and epistemological perspectives, we would like to stress that by conducting this research, we did not aim to claim any substantial truths resulting from our empirical data. Rather, we intended to bring up new perspectives and insights from a different and under-explored point of view, as Gabriel (2000) argues that this allowed us to look for the meaning of experiences rather than the facts. This corresponds with our aim to discover the deeper meaning of sensemaking processes which came into existence through the storytelling workshop.

We would like to stress that often, no clear distinction is made between interpretive and qualitative research (Andrade, 2009). Nevertheless, qualitative research does not necessarily have to be interpretive (Klein & Myers, 1999), but in our case, the research becomes interpretive due to our philosophical assumptions. As interpretive research departs from the assumption that our perception of 'reality is gained [...] through social constructions such as language,

consciousness, shared meanings [...] and other artefacts'' (Klein & Myers, 1991, p.69), it is in line with the philosophical assumptions we, as researchers, have. In interpretive research, social construction of reality is assumed, in which the researcher becomes the vehicle of creating new realities (Cavana, Delahaye & Sekaran, 2001). This implies that by using the lens of the interpretive tradition, we, as researchers, are more likely to increase our understanding in the meaning of the storytelling workshop for the entrepreneurs.

#### 3.3. Research approach

Due to the fact that we intend to investigate personal experiences and meaning of young entrepreneurs' understanding of reality, we will be using the methodology of a case study design to collect empirical data regarding the storytelling event. Through collecting data regarding an event, we gained insight in the sensemaking processes of young entrepreneurs in the local context in which they were created (Miles & Huberman, 1994; Rennstam & Wästerfors, 2015). Two sets of interviews were held with all participants; one short interview in an informal setting preceding the workshop and one in-depth interview after the workshop which both consisted of open-ended questions, a method which Scotland (2012) suggests generates qualitative data. According to Miles and Huberman (1994), qualitative research has the ability to ''preserve chronological flow, [in order for the researcher to] see which events led to which consequences and derive fruitful explanations'' (p.1). This is important as during the interviews after the workshop, interviewees reflected upon their life experiences as well as on the storytelling workshop. By doing so, the chronological flow was of importance for us as researchers to formulate legitimate conclusions from the interviewees' perspectives and discover during which moments in the interviewees' life meaning and narrative identity were constructed.

The method chosen to analyse our data is the interpretive method, as Karp (2006) argues that experience of any reality is only possible through interpretation. In order to create these new realities, we decided to make use of an abductive research approach. The abductive research approach is described by Alvesson and Sköldberg (2018) as an approach that combines both elements of inductive (start from a theoretical basis) and deductive approaches (does not reject theoretical assumptions) but also takes the understanding of underlying patterns into consideration. The abductive approach indicates a back-and-forth process between the theoretical

concepts and collected data and is of importance in situations that can be defined by uncertainty and complexity (Esposito, Ferilli, Basile & Di Mauro, 2007). Thus, the reason we used this approach in our research was to gain deeper understanding in the underlying patterns during the sensemaking processes of the entrepreneurs. As we were aware that multiple realities and theories exist, we went back and forth between the theory and results in order to find wellgrounded results.

#### 3.4. Data collection

Within our study, two sources of qualitative data collection methods were used, encompassing open-ended, semi-structured interviews and observations. The interviews were regarded as main data collection method and functioned to give insight in the thought patterns and reality constructions of the participants (Kvale, 1983). However, to be able to examine the setting in which these new thought patterns may have been constructed, observations during the workshop accounted for complementary data, enhancing the answers and insights which arose during the interviews. As we agreed with Bryman and Bell (2015) and argue that the meaning of reality is socially constructed through social interaction, the observations aimed to discover "the production of social reality from an external perspective" (Flick, 2018, p.328).

#### 3.4.1. Interviews

As we were looking into sensemaking and identity processes, which can be regarded as complex topics, it was crucial to obtain a rich set of data. Therefore, two sets of interviews were conducted with the eleven participants of the workshop. Additionally, three in-depth interviews were conducted with both the founder of StoryValue as well as with two business coaches who were working closely with the participants of the workshop which functioned as a frame of reference. According to Prasad (2015), in-depth interviews allowed harmony with our focus on 'how' interviewees made sense of specific situations and focused less on 'what' was taking place. All interviews are considered to be semi-structured as, according to Bryman and Bell (2015), this structure enabled the interviews to address the most important topics and aspects which were formulated in advance, but allowed the interviews to be considered more of a conversation than a strict question-and-answer structure. This structure also permitted us, as interviewers, to draw in questions that emerged during the interviews, as Alvesson and Deetz

(2000) suggest that semi-structured interviews could possibly enrich the data collection and lead to new insights and understandings. Additionally, the semi-structured approach was chosen in order to capture the ''narrative process of [...] sensemaking, and prompting the [participants] to reflect [...] [on] significant periods and events'' (Rae & Carswell, 2000, p.222). Here, significant events entailed experiences from the past, as well as experiences that stemmed from the storytelling workshop.

All interviews were conducted face-to-face and both of us, as researchers, were present at all interviews in order to capture a broader scope of interpretations of the data. The latter was also important as we adopted different roles during the interviews. While one of us made sure all formulated questions were answered and the participants' behaviour was observed, the other asked additional questions which could lead to new insights and gave the interview an informal touch. Directly after every interview, we took a few minutes and reflected upon the interview. This was done by writing down important insights, behaviour or other remarkable aspects of the interviewees which could enhance the results of the research and which could easily be forgotten over time, such as hand gestures. We treated the conducting of the interviews – about a workshop on storytelling around personal values of aspiring entrepreneurs – also as storytelling in which both the interviewes as well as the researchers participated. The reason for this was that during the interviews, the entrepreneurs reflected on their narrative identity construction their self emplotment. During these interviews, the interviewees retold the narratives which were established during the workshop, meaning that "the interview itself [became] a site for a narrative production" (Czarniawska, 2004, p.50).

Preceding the workshop, a short interview was conducted with all participants which was deliberately held in the informal setting of a small cafe. This first interview lasted between 21-34 minutes per participant and had two purposes. The first was to establish an informal atmosphere, aiming to increase levels of trust among the participants and us as researchers, which is in line with Ulus and Gabriel (2015) who argue that higher levels of trust optimise the sharing of personal experiences and information. Secondly, the short interviews aimed to create a foundation of understanding, or, in other words, a context for the narrative accounts of the entrepreneurs (Warren, 2004a). The participants were asked to tell something about themselves,

their entrepreneurial journey so far, how they established their teams (when applicable), and what their biggest struggles were throughout this process. In order to gain insight in the entrepreneur's narrative accounts, we asked questions regarding their existing knowledge of values, storytelling and whether the participants received any guidance or coaching so far, as well as their expectations for the workshop.

The second set of interviews was conducted within four days after the workshop and lasted between 39-64 minutes per participant. The main goal of these interviews was to gain in-depth knowledge on the entrepreneurs' experiences of the workshop. As the stories during the workshop were personal and involved an emotional dimension, these interviews were deliberately held in a meeting room in order to create a safe space for the participants to talk about their experiences as interruptions or distractions were minimised. To gain insight in the meaning and experiences of the workshop of the participants, we intended to become 'fellow travellers' of the narrative (Gabriel & Ulus, 2015), which is described by Gabriel (2000) as naturally engaging in the conversation while actively acknowledging the emotional and symbolic elements. In order to obtain this information, we asked how the interviewees experienced the storytelling and how it felt to use stories to translate personal values into their startup. This due to the fact that the stories in the workshop functioned as sensemaking device for the entrepreneurs. In addition, they were asked to tell about their insights from the workshop, if they were already aware of their personal values that resulted from the online tool, how they experienced the use of storytelling to describe their personal values and how they might use these insights in the future. We would like to point out that during the interviews, we took on an active role, engaging the entrepreneur in a sensemaking process. The importance of doing so is stressed by Cope (2003) for researchers to clarify meanings and importance related to experiences.

#### *3.4.2. Observations*

The second method of data collection consisted of observations. Through the observations, which lasted approximately 5 hours, the entrepreneurs were observed during the workshop. The observations enhanced our primary method of data collection as we referred to the workshop in the interviews and enabled us to observe the participant's behaviour and (body) language. In our

research, body language was of equal importance as verbal language because gestures and other forms of body language have the power to co-compose stories (Gabriel, 2000). The observations also increased our understanding of the entrepreneur's behaviour and even allowed us to gain, to a certain extent, insight in their 'life-worlds', enabling us to refer to those in the second interviews. In addition, through observations we were also able to increase our understanding of the social context in which the workshop took place, as observations have the power to enhance the researcher's 'independent view of the experience [in] which the [participant's] language has constructed those realities'' (Erlandson, Harris, Skipper & Allen, 1993, p.99). Nevertheless, it is important to stress that during the observations our role as researchers was passive as we did not engage with the participants in any way. This role is also acknowledged by Flick (2009), who refers to this way of observing as non-participant observations in which researchers aim to study topics such as the development of attitudes, narratives or communication. In this research, adopting a passive observant role was important as we attempted to avoid influencing the participants' experience during the workshop.

### 3.5. Data analysis

The data analysis commenced simultaneously with the data collection as we started transcribing and coding processes while still conducting interviews. Thus, it can be argued that coding in this research has become part of the analysis (Miles & Huberman, 1994). During the short interviews before the workshop, we analysed interviewees' behaviours, body- and verbal language, and during the workshop, the analysis continued when we observed the participants engaging in the workshop as well as during the in-depth interviews after the workshop. All observations and insights were written down, so we were able to return to these later during our analysis.

In order to capture all gathered data, all interviews were recorded with agreement from the interviewees. According to Gabriel and Ulus (2015), recordings of interviews allow researchers to take a step back and look at the data more objectively. After the interviews, these recordings were transcribed as soon as possible in order to capture any behavioural observations and emotions. In order to guarantee the interviewees' anonymity, pseudonyms were established and will be referred to throughout the findings and discussion. A list of the pseudonyms can be found in Appendix A. Following, the interview transcripts were coded and analysed by the use of

qualitative data analysis software. The process of coding the transcripts for the first time was executed individually, so both of us were able to draw our own conclusions and insights, thus being able to provide each other with a 'reality check' (Saldaña, 2013). This first round of individual coding could be regarded as initial coding (Charmaz, 2002) and happened without predetermined codes. By maintaining an open attitude towards our data, we aimed to minimise the chance of missing out on any interesting topics. During the initial coding, we followed Saldaña's (2013) coding strategies, and applied a combination of descriptive, values, and simultaneous coding methods. This writer argues that through both descriptive coding and values coding at the same time, simultaneous coding took place. Descriptive coding allowed us to discover broader topics in the data, and values coding enabled us to code the values, attitudes and beliefs. Finally, simultaneous coding occurred as we often applied two or more codes to a specific or overlapping part of the data. According to Glesne (2011), simultaneous coding was appropriate to our data analysis as the data often contained multiple meanings as ''social interaction does not occur in neat, isolated units'' (p.192).

When the initial coding was completed, the different interpretations and understandings were discussed and resulted in new codes, which Weston, Gandell, Beauchamp, McAlpine, Wiseman and Beauchamp (2001) refer to as rich codes. The process of determining the rich codes enhanced our sensemaking processes as we spent more time with the data. These codes were constructed in a manner that Charmaz (2002) identified as focused coding. During this process, we went back to the literature, raw data and categorised codes, and re-coded our findings through which new insights arose. This process consequently led us to identifying themes in our data. Theming the data is said to enhance analyses in qualitative studies (Saldaña, 2013) when analysing topics such as one's identity construction, world-view, thought patterns and emotional experiences (Wertz, Charmaz, McMullen, Josselson, Anderson & McSpadden, 2011). Furthermore, the observations from the workshop were transcribed within one day after the workshop. These transcripts were added to the existing data in our qualitative data analysis software, through which we were able to analyse and code the material together with the interview transcripts.

## 3.6. Limitations

Even though narrative research can allow for great value as it takes into consideration different meanings (Boje, 1995), it is important to consider the fact that narratives can be told multiple times and can thus also be interpreted in many different ways. Therefore, a risk of multiple voicing exists (Gergen & Gergen, 1988) which could possibly influence the way a story is told and conveyed. In addition, Alvesson and Sköldberg (2018) argue that researchers in the tradition of social constructionism are often 'less systematic and confrontational in their criticism [...] than, for example, critical theorists" (p.30). Furthermore, as topics such as (narrative) identity construction, sensemaking and thought worlds are regarded as complex phenomena as they transcend multiple fields and take into consideration multiple realities, they are considered to be problematic to understand and interpret (Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003). In addition, as both concepts are best understood as processes, this makes it impossible to measure exact outcomes as the work of it will never be finished. Therefore, it is impossible to address their entire scope in this thesis. As these topics can also be regarded as closely linked to subjectivity, it was crucial that we adopted a reflexive approach through which we reflected actively on any gathered data while trying to stay objective. Finally, as the interviewees expressed their stories through oral narratives and as we, as researchers, analysed their stories and presented these as narratives in this thesis, Rhodes and Brown (2005) argue that through this, we ourselves can be considered as storytellers.

### 3.7. Chapter summary

In this chapter, we discussed the research site and the workshop which was given by the municipality. The ontological and epistemological considerations were discussed, and as we depart from a social constructionist track, we argued for socially constructed realities which were both influencing as well as influenced by sensemaking processes. Furthermore, our research philosophy touched upon our reasons to interview the participants at two different moments in time, as the aim was to establish a space in which the participants felt more at ease to share their personal experiences and which created a context for their narrative accounts. Additionally, observations were executed during the workshop which were regarded as a complementary source of data, allowing us to gain insights in the setting in which their reality constructions came into existence, which entailed the setting of the workshop. When analysing our data, an

abductive approach was chosen to complement our research as we went back and forth to the data in order to gain a deeper understanding of the underlying patterns during the sensemaking processes of the entrepreneurs. Additionally, the data was coded by means of initial and focused coding strategies (Charmaz, 2002), during which we coded and recoded the data, thus spent time with our findings and resulted in new insights over time. Finally, the limitations of our research were outlined and possible risks have been identified which were considered while writing this thesis.

# 4. Results

This chapter consists of an overview of the results derived from the first and second interviews as well as the observations. Throughout analysing the data, four different levels of both intraand interpersonal sensemaking were identified, which, we argue, seem to have an impact on the construction of the narrative identity of the entrepreneurs. The interpersonal levels are the entrepreneurial sphere, the entrepreneurial hub (Starthub) and the teams. Finally, the intrapersonal level has been identified as the self.

# 4.1. Finding oneself in the entrepreneurial sphere

In this part we highlight how the entrepreneurial sphere is perceived to have an influence on the sensemaking and narrative identity construction for the entrepreneurs.

### 4.1.1. Not following the normal path

Throughout the first interviews, a pattern was discovered in the way the interviewees talked about their interpretation of entrepreneurship. It was interesting to see how entrepreneurship was idolised and described in such a positive manner. Not only how entrepreneurship was perceived by the interviewees, but also how they felt when entering this industry. For example, one of our interviewees described how he felt when he was being introduced to the entrepreneurial 'world':

It showed me that there are actually people that don't follow the normal path, and that make a very good living, and have fun doing something that you're not supposed to do. I saw that a lot of people just don't have the feeling like they have to... they would do it because they want to create something new. And I saw that it was working for all of them. So I thought, okay, this is a whole new world (Peter).

As he described it, working as an entrepreneur is not the orthodox way to go, but rather perceived as something people are not supposed to do. Maybe one could even argue that because it is not the standard way to go, it arguably becomes more appealing to work in. Nevertheless, Peter described it as a whole new world where people do not have to, but want to work for themselves. Agnes, one of our other interviewees, also made a comment that she thought the 'entrepreneurship world' was super far away from her, but when she became an entrepreneur, she discovered that *'actually, it is not. You can just go inside and do your stuff''*. She expressed that before becoming an entrepreneur, she expected that entrepreneurs lived in their own world and that it would be inaccessible for outsiders, thus, making it difficult to enter. Her notion that everyone can just come in and 'do their stuff' implicitly conveys the message that no one is perceived differently, and that entrepreneurs can do what they feel like doing. This is also what Peter experienced, as he expressed that entrepreneurs are not forced to confirm to anything but that they can do whatever they want. Other interviewees also mentioned that since they became entrepreneurs, they had the feeling that they did not need to conform to rules anymore.

### 4.1.2. Not being a misfit

When being introduced to entrepreneurship, some interviewees had already worked in existing organisations. Although not all interviewees had the experience of working in an existing organisation, they did have preconceptions about working in (large) organisations compared to the life of an entrepreneur. Those expressions draw on previous statements as this perspective stresses the *musts* and *have to's* of organisations compared to the freedom of being an entrepreneur. For example, Chris expressed that this freedom is not only related to the work itself, but also who you are as a person:

I despise big companies and how they are structured, probably that's why I left my job. I spent a lot of time at work, and it's time that you spend of your own life. I just want to be who I am also at work. If you go into big companies, you have to be someone else again. You have to play by the rules. Otherwise, you're the misfit of the company (Chris).

Chris expressed that he felt he could not be himself at work, because when he did not conform to those rules, people did not appreciate him for that. He also found that now, being an entrepreneur, he did not have to do that anymore. He argued that 'as you are spending a significant amount of time at work, it is better to be yourself'. We found that more entrepreneurs felt this way. For example, Jack expressed that by being an entrepreneur, he did not have to comply with the norms, nor did he have to take the road people perceive as normal:

People argue that you should become an expert within one subject. And I never really liked that. I don't want to go this route, I just want to do everything (Jack).

Jack here expressed that he felt his thinking differs from the majority of people as he is not complying to the 'norm' which society has put on him, meaning that instead of complying, he founded his own company. However, our results indicate that this freedom turned out to be a paradox itself as most interviewees perceived this freedom liberating and terrifying at the same time.

#### 4.1.3. Being a wreck

Throughout the interviews, and especially during the interviews after the workshop, interviewees opened up to us and acknowledged that there are also downsides to entrepreneurship. During his (short but ongoing) entrepreneurial journey, Peter discovered that some of his characteristics contradicted his perceived image of entrepreneurship, which made it harder for him to maintain his motivation and positive mindset:

I mean, something that I've always hated is certainty. I don't like stability, that's the thing. I get bored very easily. But at the same time, I didn't know that not having stability was such a tough thing. Because when you have the possibility to decide a lot of things for yourself, then that's a lot of pressure that you normally don't have, because normally someone is deciding for you. It's great because you have a lot of possibilities, but it's also easy to get anxiety, because it's like, 'hey, am I doing this right?' (Peter).

Here it seems that Peter did not expect that the freedom would also lead to anxiety and that his perception of entrepreneurship might have been more positive than it actually turned out to be, as it is regarded as normal to comply with the norm of following the conventional path. Following their own path might have resulted in unexpected events, which in turn apparently resulted in increased levels of anxiety. As it turned out, not only Peter had to deal with these contradictory feelings. When we spoke to Nick during his second interview he said that *'it seems I know where I am going, it seems... but on the inside I am a wreck''*. In broader context, we interpret both Peter's and Nick's statements about insecurity as something typical for the practice of

entrepreneurship, and in particular among young entrepreneurs as they do not have many points of reference yet. For most of our interviewees, it is their first 'real' startup in which they dedicate a lot of time and effort. And what might have seemed liberating at the start of this journey has resulted in anxiety by now. Nick also explained that *'not knowing what will happen can be stressful. It feels like... not having control''.* Not having control and the unlimited amount of options and paths here resulted in stress among most of the interviewees and can be considered part of the freedom paradox.

### 4.1.4. Images of entrepreneurship

While the aspect of 'being yourself' was emphasised throughout our interviews, it was surprising to discover that during first round of interviews (before the workshop), most interviewees did not consider themselves as entrepreneurs. For example, when we asked Amber how she felt being an entrepreneur, she replied *'I don't particularly call myself an entrepreneur'*. This is interesting, as our interviewees did find themselves in an entrepreneurial hub. When Amber continued, she said:

It's something I would want to, like, to be... to be an actual label... no matter what this label means to you, I would like to be the typical definition of it. I feel like Oprah. Before she was Oprah (Amber).

When Amber said she felt like ''Oprah before she was Oprah'', we asked her what she meant by that. She answered that when Oprah started her show, she wanted to become the greatest TV show host, and Oprah said, ''if it works out, that would be great, but if it does not, no harm is done''. Here, Amber gave us the impression that she would like to achieve something great, but that she felt she is not there yet and therefore does not label herself to being an entrepreneur. This might have to do with the uncertainty of what entrepreneurship entails. For her, she expressed, it would be more of creating a movement of social entrepreneurship rather than making money. The inability to identify oneself with being an entrepreneur is further illustrated by Jordi, who compared himself to his team member and argued that he is less 'entrepreneurial' as he views entrepreneurs as people who do certain things, which he apparently does not:

I'm not even sure if my view on the like traditional entrepreneur is the same as it traditionally is.... I think that [team member] is like the traditional sort of entrepreneurial guy. Because he's this Renaissance guy, playing music and studies to become an engineer (Jordi).

Jordi had quite a specific image of what an entrepreneur seems to be, and he did not consider himself to be one as this clashed with the image he had of entrepreneurs. Throughout the interviews, it happened more often that when we were looking at the image our interviewees had of entrepreneurs, they rarely considered themselves to be one.

#### 4.1.5. Yearning to create something

Throughout our interviews we were able to dig deeper into the topic of why most interviewees did not think of themselves as entrepreneurs, which we were partially able to do due to the strength of choosing semi-structured interviews. Here, a discrepancy was discovered between the self-view and characteristics or traits which entrepreneurs should have, according to our interviewees. It appeared that there was a consensus among all interviewees, who argued that they possessed certain strengths which they found were needed to either practice entrepreneurship, or which indicated that the path to entrepreneurship was not an unexpected one. Jack, an interviewee who has been in the field of entrepreneurship for over a year now, stated:

Before this, I didn't really have any thoughts of doing entrepreneurship, even though I had all of the traits for being entrepreneur. I'm super curious. When I look at the world, I see problems that I want to fix (Jack).

His motivation for entrepreneurship is visible as he argues that entrepreneurship is about fixing 'things' or making 'things' better. Throughout the interview, it also became visible that for him, these 'traits' could be traced back to his childhood. His statement is reinforced by Anne, who argued that her entrepreneurial side has also been visible throughout her life:

I think I've always been very driven, very curious, very problem oriented. Always questioning things... Maybe that led to being driven. Questioning why things are the way they are, how can we solve them. Putting things apart so that I can put them back together in a more efficient way. That is what I used to do as kid as well (Anne).

#### 4.1.6. Is it all about making money?

The entrepreneurs find themselves in an entrepreneurial hub in which coaching and other forms of support such as workshops and training are not uncommon. Nevertheless, during the interviews, we discovered that the focus on hard skills (measurable subjects) is more present compared to the focus on softer skills. When looking into (previous) experiences of the interviewees regarding coaching, training or other forms of guidance, the majority found that a focus was put on making money, building a feasible product or service and crafting successful pitches. Although the entrepreneurs do receive guidance, they did find themselves focusing more on the static or measurable subjects. For example, Nick described a meeting with his business advisor in Starthub as followed:

She identifies the problem; you have to know how to make a profit. And she's trying to get me to attend to the business side. I think its two different sides of the same coin. So it's like developing the product, but also caring for the business aspects (Nick).

Due to this focus on the business side of the new venture, the majority of the interviewees felt that there was little to no time left to focus on the 'human side'. Not all entrepreneurs entered the program with long-established teams, but the interviewees expressed that so far, no guidance or training had been provided to facilitate the teamwork aspect. Regarding the 'human side' of the business, it appeared that this did not fit on either side of the coin:

We normally skip it. I don't know why exactly... Because we feel it's not useful maybe. Or we have the feeling that we just need to hurry because we do not have time for this because we need to get things done (Agnes). When continuing this conversation, Agnes also expressed that the storytelling workshop that was yet to be held would focus more on the inside, and that therefore *'`no one [would] ever know that [the entrepreneurs] did it''*. This is strongly in line with the focus on the measurable and static facts, rather than the intangible and 'fluffy' part of doing business. For example, Anne expressed:

There's so much focus on the business plan, the idea, financing and so on; what was the product? Is it going to be sustainable? There are so many things around what you're going to do, but not about why you are going to do it (Anne).

Here, Anne stressed that the hard and measurable skills are focused on, and she referred to the lack of other kinds of training as a 'gap'. She furthermore claimed that there is little focus on why entrepreneurs start their business, which is quite important in the first phases of the venture as the entrepreneur needs to have a sense of direction.

Our findings suggest that the focus on the business side has an impact on the way the interviewees identify themselves as entrepreneurs. An example of this was given by Jordi, who perceived his current project as *'traditionally entrepreneurship-esque''* because for him, entrepreneurship implies that entrepreneurs are able to create a viable and profitable product or service, which he is doing in this project. He continued explaining that his previous experiences were not entrepreneurial as they were either non-profit or charity projects. When we talked to Daniel, he claimed that the basic principle for him was to make his team as much money as possible. These opinions are quite aligned with the perspectives of their business coaches, who also focused on business plans and viable products or services.

Besides the money-centred approach, there was also a high need among the interviewees to do something back for society or to fulfil one's quest in their search for bigger meaning. Amber clearly expressed this need as followed:

You know, we're all from different communities. So everyone is helping their own community in their own way. So I just figured, my community definitely has [certain]

problems. I felt like I... If I don't do it ... if I don't put my knowledge in practice for my own community, then what am I really doing? You know what I mean? (Amber).

She continued to motivate the decision of starting her own company. Here, we assume that there is a high need to give back to the community. From her interview, this search for bigger meaning clearly hints towards the field of social entrepreneurship, as she argued that she decided to take the entrepreneurial path for her community rather than her idea being a profitable business plan. Amber also mentioned that because she is not in 'there' to compete, she *'probably lack[s] some of the qualities you would expect from an entrepreneur''*. Since Amber's main motivational driver for starting her own business is the social aspect, she bases most of her startup-related decisions on the social aspect instead of considering its impact on the attributed monetary value. However, doing this might have manifested in her doubting whether she possesses the qualities to consider herself an entrepreneur, resulting in the feeling that she is not in that league. Her expression also implicitly indicated that typical entrepreneurs might be in the 'game' to compete and earn money. We carefully argue that this seems to be somewhat aligned with the implicit and explicit norms within Starthub and its focus on measurable steps and monetary value.

The findings further showed that the entrepreneurs expressed their motivation for entrepreneurship being guided by passion. For example, Nick expressed that although his business advisor focused mostly on whether his idea would make a viable product, he wanted to focus on making the process fun. As we shed light upon the fact that the business coach tried to shift Nick's focus towards the business side, he expressed that this was not his aim:

I've come to the insight that I do want to try this, like, from seed to bread concept that I actually started. And the best is the creative process... Because that's the fundamental part actually. I think I've come to the realisation of not doing anything for the money. I think of it having like some itch in my fingers (Nick).

Other interviewees also expressed that for them, even though being an entrepreneur might be tough sometimes, their passion made the struggles worth it. For example, Simona faced some obstacles throughout the process, but nevertheless decided to continue, and stated *''I am so* 

*passionate about it that I want to keep on working with it'*. Both Nick and Simona faced obstacles in their process but felt that since their passion is reflected in their startup, it is worth to keep going. Both felt that their passion is their driver, and that, due to the fact that they are so passionate, they were able to conquer the obstacles they faced.

While different reasons are detected to go into the field of entrepreneurship, there seemed to be a conflict among the reasons to start a company and the norms of 'society'. This conflict was cautiously expressed by Amber, who doubted whether she could consider herself an entrepreneur as she was not in the game for the money. However, the fact that entrepreneurship stands for doing 'something better' was considered to be the main motivator for the majority of our interviewees. One example was given by Jack:

I think humble entrepreneurs have a way better chance at succeeding while the arrogant entrepreneurs that make a shit ton of money will just fall out of the system very quickly, because that's not what entrepreneurship stands for. For most people, entrepreneurship stands for doing something better (Jack).

Jack is very clear about the fact that 'arrogant entrepreneurs' will eventually end up being unhappy or that they will not be able to sustain their business, due to the fact that they are in 'there' for the money. Even though Jack was convinced that passion should be the foundation for every entrepreneur, the monetary aspect seemed to affect the confidence of our interviewees. Simona drew upon this issue as well:

I do think that there is a domination of ideas that are just going to bring money to people. There's not so much space for those companies in social entrepreneurship. So sometimes, you feel frustrated because you feel like 'I don't fit that'. That my idea is not valid enough, because I'm not contributing to reinforce that narrative (Simona).

Simona expressed her frustration towards the entrepreneurial ecosystem, which is painted to the outer world as an inclusive space in which everyone is able to practice what makes them happy. As most of our interviewees were eager to relate to social entrepreneurship and had the strong

desire to give back to their community, they found themselves in a difficult position in which they were implicitly expected to comply with the (unwritten) rules of the entrepreneurial community while explicitly expressing themselves as 'money-making devices'.

# 4.2. Being an entrepreneur in a network

In this section, we draw upon the different experiences of the interviewed entrepreneurs when considering their feeling of belonging. First, we dig into the in-group perspectives, thus on a broader level, targeting the specific entrepreneurial environment. By doing this, we aim to visualise the ambiguity between both in-group and out-group experiences.

#### 4.2.1. I finally fit in

As is previously explained, the interviewees were all part of the same entrepreneurial hub. It is interesting that throughout the interviews, a certain image of this 'inclusiveness' came to the surface. Jack expressed his gratitude of being part of Starthub as followed:

Sometimes I feel lost. But then I find use in talking to others in the hub, engaging in a dialogue with them. Everyone is so interesting, different, quirky and weird, And it is interesting, seeing ideas transforming into something, that's truly amazing (Jack).

During our second, in-depth interview directly after the workshop, Jack opened up more about his life and events that shaped him as a person. When we asked Jack regarding Starthub, he said that he was really happy as *'you are allowed to be yourself, I feel that I finally fit in somewhere''*. If we take Jack's experiences into consideration when analysing the atmosphere at the entrepreneurial hub, we can assume that the hub gives him stability and confidence through this 'rollercoaster of entrepreneurship' as Simona herself referred to being an entrepreneur. The statements from Jack very much correlate with Daniel, who expressed that:

*Everyone is friends. It's different from normal work places, because normally people do their own stuff. But in there, everybody helps each other* (Daniel).

#### 4.2.2. Sea full of sharks

While we have provided a clear overview of some of the (positive) opinions of the entrepreneurial hub, this view is not shared by all of our interviewees. It appears that there was an evident division in place of people who either felt they belonged in this hub, and others, who expressed that they became demoralised when working in Starthub. An example was given by Simona, who explained that due to some other entrepreneurs at the hub, they *'really made me doubt myself''*. She felt that there was no group feeling among the entrepreneurs who are part of the hub, and that people should support and motivate each other, which, she exclaimed, did not happen:

I really don't get why people get competitive instead of being supportive. You can still give advice that is useful, without being an asshole. But it is a bit demoralising as you share the same space and you get the same opportunities. You know... Like, these are the rules, and you just have to try to swim among the sea full of sharks (Simona).

Simona links her expression of 'sea full of sharks' to the fact that, according to her, the vibe at the entrepreneurial hub could be described as a 'macho atmosphere'. She further argued that she did believe that the hub could bloom when all participants would actively work on making the hub a more supportive and inclusive place. The lack of support was also touched upon by Amber, who believed this could be explained by the dominating discourse on making money as well as by the *'the ongoing struggle in this patriarchal world''*.

# 4.3. The team, a melting pot of different perspectives

When looking into the interpersonal levels of sensemaking that might have influenced the sensemaking processes of the entrepreneurs, the third level was identified as the team. In this setting, the teams consisted of two or three entrepreneurs working together on their venture within Starthub. When exploring previous experiences of the interviewees, we discovered that the majority found it hard to work on their projects by themselves. They felt that they benefited from working with one or more team members for multiple reasons, which will be elaborated upon in this section.

#### *4.3.1.* Working alone is tragic

When talking to Simona about her experiences as entrepreneur, she told us that she experienced the entrepreneurial journey as intense and tough. She explained:

I think being alone is very tragic in the sense that you only have yourself as point of reference. So it has been like a roller coaster. But also very exciting, especially since I found a partner, it is like the whole feeling about it completely changed (Simona).

Having herself as only point of reference was something Simona was not comfortable with. By expressing this, we could argue that she values discussions and a sparring partner who provides her with honest feedback. She also mentioned that she needed someone to reassure her when she was in doubt. She ascribed this change of perspective to her new team member, as this made her feel reassured and more comfortable, and that it now felt like she is going somewhere:

I never actually had a community that matched my own values. But now I'm having that and it feels like I'm building my own world where I can feel comfortable (Simona).

From the rest of her interview, we were also able to extract that she valued working together. Simona commented that when she was working in a company before, in which people did not work together nor did create a good atmosphere, this made her feel bad. This experience was one of the reasons for her starting her own business. She expressed she valued working with people who create a good atmosphere, and stated that *'that's why I quit, because it was hell on earth''*. As Simona is now in charge of onboarding herself, she had a clear mission to find members who create a nice atmosphere and are supportive. We argue that this need might stem from her previous work experiences as well as her negative experience within the hub.

#### 4.3.2. I have been blinded

As seen before, Simona felt like she needed someone to discuss her ideas with. She felt like she needed this to have a different perspective on her startup as well as improve the idea she had already had. During the interviews, Nick referred similarly to his period of working alone:

*I think I have been a bit blinded, because I worked with the product for so long... I needed someone who I can share ideas with* (Nick).

Both entrepreneurs have been looking for someone with who they could share ideas with and who could help them build their business. They felt that they needed a sparring partner who complemented the weaknesses that they have, and the insecurities of not being good enough. In addition, having a partner enabled the interviewees to benefit from an 'outsider perspective', as they both shared the need to receive feedback. In line with this, Chris expressed his need for a sparring partner in a different way and stressed the importance to *''diversify your team arrangements and constellations''*. When we asked why, he answered:

It's important to have a diversification of strengths, beliefs and values, and with that you can have a nice melting pot of all kinds of strengths (Chris).

The fact that the entrepreneurs were already aware of their (lack of) skills might be a sign of reflexivity. As Chris referred to a 'melting pot' and 'constellation' within teams, he argued for the need for diversity. He furthermore motivated this statement as he felt it prevents getting stuck in a certain way of thinking.

#### *4.3.3. Glasses*

In the interviews directly after the workshop, we asked the interviewees how they felt regarding the storytelling workshop. Remarkably, the workshop was described by some of the interviewees as something special:

It just gave me different glasses to look at life. It made me more aware of what's happening around me instead of just being too much in my head (Simona).

Although Simona's expression can be perceived as a positive outcome, we were interested in what happened in the individual's sensemaking. Maria reflected upon the workshop as followed:

At first, it wasn't easy. I had to, like, push myself, like 'just do it, come on'. Sort of, like, remove the shield we usually have when we have a conversation. Yes. So I was actively trying to be honest, and like, invest myself in this workshop (Maria).

Thus, although the exercises might have resulted in 'new glasses', perspectives and increased awareness, the process throughout the workshop was experienced as being tough. During the workshop, we also observed that some participants showed signs of discomfort when they were asked to describe their values by means of a personal story. As Maria explained, she had to actively engage herself and open up during the workshop. However, when she managed to open up, she expressed to us that she experienced this as followed:

You feel like you have to put on the shield a lot of times, and it takes energy. Since we broke down that shield. You can be real with each other (Maria).

Both Simona and Maria expressed that they felt like a barrier was removed and new perspectives were gained. Through sharing stories, several interviewees explicitly expressed that a 'holy, safe space' was established. This might have a relation to the level of trust, as people are more willing to share knowledge and stories when there is trust.

As is explained above, the exercises during the storytelling workshop encouraged several of the participants to step out of their comfort zone, which we feel was partly accomplished through increased levels of trust and understanding among the participants, which enabled them to create a space in which they could feel safe to open up and share their life stories. This understanding is visible in the expressions of Peter and Agnes, who individually expressed how the storytelling exercises increased their understanding of each other:

At first, we were like 'oh, shit, we don't have any values that match'. Just like two or three. But after the exercises, it seemed like almost all of them actually matched. I even had one of which my team member said, 'hey, I feel like this could also be mine', you know? That was amazing. I think that we were more similar than we thought (Peter). First I thought like, 'who am I working with, I don't know him'. And then, when we started talking and telling stories, we found that they were kind of the same (Agnes).

We assume that through the storytelling exercises, Peter and Agnes became more aware of each other's life experiences, which created something Brandon refers to as 'value coherence', meaning that alignment exists between the team members' values, even though the values on paper might differ.

#### 4.3.4. See where everybody is coming from

Another reflection was expressed by Amanda, who referred to her role as active listener as *''só difficult! We are trained to confirm, and it was extra hard because they were personal stories''*. The fact that through 'active listening' a process was set in motion is of particular interest to us. It appeared that several participants were not used to not interfering when someone was telling a story, as they relate this to being in a daily conversation in which you give cues, add to the story or ask questions. In addition, Jack also reflected upon being an 'active listener' and explained that during that moment, something was triggered:

It was something that made me think... got my brain going. And to me, that is so satisfying. Just hearing what other people had to say. Because it's not very obvious that you would share these stories just with everyone. But I think that's very interesting, seeing where everybody's coming from (Jack).

All interviewees agreed upon the fact that even though adopting a role as active listener may not have resulted in any life changing experiences, it did provide an opportunity in which the interviewees were able to view things in a different way than they were used to. Maria elaborates upon her role as active listener as followed:

It brought up a lot of things that were already there. But I just needed to, like, where are the glasses... and see them? Because now I have a clear idea of the other person's experiences. We all see each other as people, but sometimes, sometimes, we tend to forget that each one of us has an experience and went through something (Maria). During the interview, we also observed how Maria physically expressed the activity of 'looking for her glasses'. She explained that through the exercises and her role as active listener, she increased her understanding of the other person. In addition, she expressed that active listening also served as a reminder to be more tolerant towards other people, and not automatically assume what might appear to be the most logical explanation.

# 4.4. Storytelling and identity co-creation

This section illustrates how the workshop was perceived as a therapy session for some of the interviewees, and how it served as a vehicle for reflection upon themselves and the experiences that have shaped them. These reflections resulted in ambiguity between their personal values and possible norms, thus affecting their sense of self. Furthermore, this section portrays how, through seeing one's values on paper, its power to reinforce one's identity became evident.

#### 4.4.1. Research as therapy

In terms of reflexivity, the interviewees appeared to be already moderately self-critical preceding the workshop. Nevertheless, after the workshop, Chris expressed that:

In everything you can find some kind of teachings and learnings that you can and have to look into, it is about how you interpret things (Chris).

When we asked Chris whether he already reflected upon himself and his decisions regularly, he answered that he usually never expresses such reflections, at least not verbally. Chris claimed that reflecting back on his values and the stories attached to them made him think. During his interview, Chris also expressed his difficulties to open up during the workshop and Maria referred to the storytelling workshop as *'some sort of therapy session''*. Notably, they were not the only one to experience the workshop this way, as during the interview after the workshop, Nick commented that both the workshop and interviews *'felt more like a therapy session''*. During moments like these, we, as researchers, experienced how the interviewees tried to make sense through such reflective stories for themselves, not sure whether they were conveying the message to us. The manner of expressing themselves changed throughout such moments, as we saw people getting 'lost in their own thoughts' more than once. And, what might even be more

interesting, was that after they made sense for themselves, they seemed somewhat relieved of sharing these thoughts while at the same time insecure as they were not sure we were still on the same page as them, resulting in awkward giggles or laughter.

#### 4.4.2. What we are expected to want

During the workshop, storytelling appeared to function as a vehicle for the participants to engage in conversation. When reflecting on possible normative values, the entrepreneurs perceived a certain negative emotion towards these values. For example, Daniel told us that it is important to think about what you want, *'instead of what you are expected to want''*. Although he expressed this as something positive, it might have come as a surprise for some of the other interviewees. For example, Maria recalled:

I learned that some of the values didn't belong to me. It was rather something that was given to me and that I took as a rule. It's a rule that I follow every day. So it felt like it was mine. You know the feeling when you think that something is yours? But then you figure out 'oh, no. That's not mine' (Maria).

Although it might not have been as black and white as Maria described, we were able to detect a change in thought patterns. This change became visible during the interviews after the workshop in which the interviewees reflected upon the workshop and expressed that even though they took a different path than most people, they could still be receptive to norms. For example, Jack said that he found it interesting to ask himself the question *'is this actually a value that comes from within me? Or is it a norm that society puts on me?''*. As we discovered throughout the interviews, the interviewees did consider themselves belonging to a special category in society. They saw themselves as different, as people who did not take the 'conventional' path and entered this new 'world' of entrepreneurship. When the entrepreneurs were confronted with the power of normative rules and taken-for-granted beliefs, they actively started thinking about distinguishing their own values from norms.

#### 4.4.3. Who am I?

Some of the interviewees expressed their difficulties about being confronted with the normative aspects of live, which became visible through their values during the workshop. Several interviewees found themselves in a reflection circle that was not finished just yet. Besides that these normative values were experienced to be negative, the workshop also triggered some uncertainties. Jack expressed his feelings towards this normative facet as followed:

Basically directly after the workshop, I started thinking 'maybe I should have [told another] story'. So maybe this event that happened in my life would be a good fit for this one instead of what actually said. So I mean, yeah, for a day basically, I kept thinking about other stories, and analysing them myself (Jack).

This statement represents the feeling or urge to perform, which various interviewees experienced during the workshop. Even though it was emphasised that the stories were their own and that there was no right or wrong, the participants felt pressure to find a suitable story. For Jack, this resulted in reflections afterwards. When looking at the other experiences, Anne also felt she needed more time to reflect on the workshop and her values. She felt that it was a somewhat longer process which could not be completed in one day:

It is good because it changes your thought patterns... You have to sort of go back and look at them and see how you feel, in a week or so. So I figured, I will give it a week and then I will digest it. And when I go back to it I'll see what happens (Anne).

Anne explained here that she needed to 'digest' the workshop. She felt that she needed to go back to the given values and corresponding stories and see what will happen. Both Jack and Anne implicitly noted that this reflection is an ongoing process and that they, besides thinking about it, actively need to work with it. Apparently, taken-for-granted thought patterns might reveal unexpected outcomes when people start digging, which also might have led to personal confrontations. This is what Amber experienced: I need to sit myself down... Oh, my gosh. But then, who am I? No, I don't know if I want to face that right now. I will have to face them at some point and I just don't want to accept that just yet (Amber).

Here, Amber indicated that she might know how other people have influenced her throughout her life, but nevertheless felt insecure when being confronted with the normative values that these people might have put on her. She might have known already, but at the time of the interview, she was not ready to face this confrontation and actively work on it yet.

#### 4.4.4. The computer understands me!

Although the interviewees mentioned that within entrepreneurship you can be yourself, there are still norms they have to comply with. Not only those within the entrepreneurial field or network, but also within institutions and families. For example, Peter expressed that for him, the workshop functioned more as a confirmation of who he is. When we asked him whether he often reflected on his values, he stated:

*I think we rarely think about them. But I do think they are present in my daily life in every way. Like, I think that's me because I see myself reflected in it (Peter).* 

When we continued and asked how he felt regarding his values and the stories he told, he answered that he felt reassured in the values that he believed he has, as *'it's good to see [them]* on paper and see like, okay, this is why I am like that '. When we talked with Elle, one of the coaches who participated in a similar workshop that was organised for the coaches of Starthub, she expressed that her values felt like a confirmation of who she was and exclaimed:

*I did the test, I read the results and got excited, like 'yay, someone understands me'! The computer understands me! This is telling me what I think I am, but that's it! (Elle).* 

Looking at this feeling of reassurance, we considered whether this could have been both a result from socialisation within the entrepreneurial world as well as the possibility to perceive this reassurance as some consequence of dealing with a high level of anxiety within the field of entrepreneurship. The aspect of identity reinforcement through *'seeing one's values on paper''* where Chris referred to was also elaborated upon by Peter, who drew upon reinterpretation processes of the brain when reflecting on the feeling of reassurance:

*I think that once you make a choice, your brain just changes all the stories so they make more sense, the choices that you make, you start seeing things differently* (Peter).

By creating a life narrative which is constructed through events that occurred at different moments in one's life, people choose to tell stories they believe make sense and 'fit' the overall life story, so it becomes a whole, according to Peter. During the workshop, participants also reflected on how and why certain experiences may have formed their narrative identity. It is fascinating to discover that the values, thus, the 'empty words', were shaped into personal values through storytelling. By doing so, participants appeared to have identified that these values, which in a way represented the events that occurred in their lives, often serve as drivers or motivation for them. For example, Nick stated that ''in this startup, it's been actually the values that have driven me to do this". Additionally, Elle also expressed that the values became her guides to prioritising. Both interviewees expressed that by knowing their values, it was easier for them to align actions towards reaching certain goals. As became clear throughout Nick's interview after the workshop, he reflected that without certain values, he probably would not have chosen to develop this particular product as that would have resulted in a discrepancy between his values and those of his customers. It is therefore of interest to discover the deeper meaning of entrepreneurship for our participants and identify whether a coherence is present among 'why' they chose to develop a certain product and what they deem is important for them.

#### 4.4.5. Values became mine

Through the interviews, we discovered several levels by which the entrepreneurs' values were possibly influenced. Besides 'seeing values on paper' may have resulted in identity reinforcement for several interviewees, it is also noteworthy to mention that other processes were also set in motion, such as, amongst others, the effect on one's self-esteem, as happened for Simona:

I always doubted those qualities, the values that I have. But now I'm seeing them on paper, it feels like 'okay, that's exactly who I am'. I should not always underestimate myself. These are my qualities and I have to work with what I have (Simona).

We assume that by knowing her values, Simona felt reassured and her self-esteem increased. Anne elaborated on the feeling Simona experienced as followed:

Once you see it on paper, it becomes more tangible. When you have something in your mind and don't write it down, it is harder to implement. Until they come down on a piece of paper... then you can claim them as yours (Anne).

Thus, Anne even expressed the feeling of 'what the paper says, was perceived as the truth'. Throughout the interview, we discovered that Anne also felt she possessed certain skills and values, but that she was still uncertain of these due to the impact certain life experiences had on her. She strongly feels that now, she is in a way 'allowed' to assign the given values to herself and through this, her identity is assumed to be strengthened. However, Chris argued that the reassurance of one's own values might not be correct, as he found it tricky in the sense that he perceives people incapable of judging themselves:

As a person, we still have certain rules and views, that is how we are influenced. Can you judge yourself? I don't know. That is why for me, the outside perspective sometimes is really important to have as well, but that might be too philosophical (Chris).

When the interview continued, Chris reflected on the fact that we (people) do not see our own faults, and in line with the above mentioned, he made the comment regarding the values that he felt the values could best be described using the metaphor of a fortune teller as *'we wish [some things] to be like that''*.

# 4.5. Conclusion

Throughout this chapter, we intended to highlight the dimensions that we discovered, which, we argue, influenced the self-image and narrative identity of the young entrepreneurs. The structure of the chapter was intentionally arranged to funnel down from the wider entrepreneurial sphere to the network the entrepreneurs find themselves in. We discovered that the interviewees tended to idealise entrepreneurship, which resulted in a paradoxical outcome. Having all control appeared to have led to anxiety and lacking sense of direction for the majority of them. Besides that, while the interviewees perceived being an entrepreneur as something that allows them to do 'whatever they want', we discovered that there are nevertheless social norms that they need to comply with. We found that, when the entrepreneurs were not 'recreating this narrative', this led to negativity and decreased support within the hub, both from coaches as well as peers.

From the Starthub layer, a transition has been built into the team dimensions. In this context, the storytelling workshop took place, and the entrepreneurs engaged in creating their narrative identity within their team. We found that the workshop made the entrepreneurs more aware of the dimensions within the teams, providing them with 'glasses' to 'open up their eyes' to the diversity and personalities within the teams. This process created 'holy' moments and arguably led to increased trust within the teams. The final layer presents the level of the self. This layer builds onto the influences of the other interpresonal pressures and focused on the experience of the entrepreneurs regarding the workshop itself as well as their experience regarding their emplotment of the self within the entrepreneurship. We found that the entrepreneurs felt both surprised and shocked, or, on the contrary, reassured when 'seeing their values on paper'. Opening up to the taken-for granted beliefs triggered the entrepreneurs and made them aware of their stories in relation to their values, while telling stories and creating the narrative identity.

# 5. Discussion

In this chapter, we build the bridge between the reviewed literature and the findings from our empirical research which have been presented in the previous chapter. More specifically, we will expand on how the workshop functioned as an arena initiating reflection and sensemaking processes, and how four different levels have been identified which, we argue, influence the construction of one's narrative identity.

## 5.1. Sensemaking based on storytelling

To begin with, we would like to recall the adopted definition of sensemaking in this thesis, which is 'the making of sense'' (Weick, 1995, p.4) of both individual and social activities through which individuals create and shape meaning (Dunford & Jones, 2000; Weick, 1995). In the previous chapter, we have elaborated on how the participants reflected upon certain life events and tried to make sense of these through the social activity of a storytelling workshop. By doing so, we have developed the understanding that a paradox seems to be present both in the way the workshop participants described their view upon and their image of entrepreneurship. On the one hand, the majority of the entrepreneurs we have studied seem to believe that by practicing entrepreneurship instead of working for a (larger) firm, they felt they can be themselves. The aspect of 'being themselves' manifests through statements such as 'no rules' and 'not being a misfit'. This perceived freedom can be ascribed to the fact that entrepreneurs, especially in the first stages of their startup, are its main source of direction (Churchill & Lewis, 1983), resulting in a lot of freedom for them. This corresponds to what Steyaert (1988) wrote, being that entrepreneurship can be viewed as a journey which pursues and creates its own story.

However, on the other hand we perceived that this freedom resulted in higher levels of anxiety as the entrepreneurs expressed that they felt overwhelmed to be completely in charge, as they are unable to rely on anyone but themselves when making important decisions. We have observed that when boundaries are scarce in the entrepreneurial life, entrepreneurs felt that they missed someone who pointed them in the right direction (Nick), which ultimately led to anxiety for the majority of them. This 'someone' may either belong to their network or team, and could enhance team diversification and provide new perspectives. Here, existing literature (Brown et al., 2009; Gabriel & Connell, 2010; Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003) argues that stories have the power to serve as effective means for sensemaking in times of turbulence and change. In this scenario, we argue that, based on statements expressed in the interviews such as that the entrepreneurial journey was described as 'a rollercoaster' and 'not having control', the entrepreneurial sphere can be regarded as one full of freedom, turbulence and change.

We have previously argued that, when being part of the tough environment in which entrepreneurship takes place (Kalyanasundaram, 2018), entrepreneurial learning is considered crucial in order for entrepreneurs to increase understanding of themselves (Allcorn & Stein, 2016; Bietti et al., 2018). By participating in the storytelling workshop, entrepreneurs engaged in active learning and sensemaking processes through which they reflected upon their life course. As, during the workshop, storytelling was used as a vehicle to initiate sensemaking (Kaye, 1995), the interviewees expressed during the in-depth interviews that by using storytelling, they acquired 'different glasses' and 'opened up their eyes' to the different perspectives within their teams. Many writers have addressed this power of storytelling to enhance sensemaking processes (Boje, 1991; Boyce, 1996; Brown et al., 2009) and identity construction (Gabriel, 1995; Rhodes & Brown, 2005). We feel that triggering these sensemaking processes may have resulted in perceived increased understanding of the self as well of their team members which arguably has led to increased levels of trust within the team.

## 5.2. Storytelling as both individual and collective activity

Storytelling in the workshop functioned as a vehicle for communication through which the entrepreneurs engaged in a deliberate attempt to make sense of what being an entrepreneur meant to them and their (narrative) identity. As we take on a social constructionist perspective, we argue that identity construction takes place in social contexts. In line with this, Maitlis and Christianson (2014) claim that sensemaking involves active co-creation of situations that individuals try to understand. Considering that people have different perspectives, teams and groups consist of individuals that create intrapersonal accounts based on previous experiences (Steigenberger, 2015). This means that individuals create different interpretations based on their experiences and knowledge, which they bring with them in their team. We argue here that the entrepreneurs who participated in the storytelling workshop engaged in co-creation of their

narrative identity on both individual as well as collective level. We suggest these two levels as the entrepreneurs developed their stories based on personally selected values, but that during the workshop, these stories were shared within the teams. Thus, on intrapersonal level, the entrepreneurs engaged in telling their story within their team, a story that was based on their previous experience. In turn, these stories influenced the storytelling entrepreneurs because the stories were told within the team, both consciously and unconsciously shaping interpersonal sensemaking and creating a life story narrative (Johansson, 2004; Jones et al., 2008).

It is important to address the notion of Gioia and Thomas (1996) who argue that individuals develop different perspectives of an event depending on their role within a group. What struck our attention, was that throughout the interviews and observations, we developed an understanding of the specific roles these entrepreneurs adopted within their team. As mentioned, one of the entrepreneurs was described as the 'renaissance guy' by one of his team members, appearing to be the creative genius who came up with the idea for the startup. When interviewing the 'renaissance guy' himself later on, his self-view seemed to correspond to the statement his team member expressed of him. For this reason, we are wondering if, through both explicit and implicit indications, such as cues and other forms of non-verbal language expressed among team members, the identity of oneself might have been reinforced. However, we like to stress that ambiguity is present regarding how the self-image of an entrepreneur influences the perception other team members have of him or her, and vice versa. This process of identity reinforcement might have occurred as a continuous and simultaneous stream of sensemaking and sensegiving processes. This claim is in line with the psychological theory of McAdams and McLean (2013), who argue that when two individuals engage in a collective sensemaking process, these stories permeate the other's stories. Besides that, Mills (2003) noted that meaning created through sensemaking both permeates as well as constraints identity practices. In the workshop, the image team members had of other team members might have permeated or constrained the creation of one's narrative identity as well as the other way around.

Another powerful dimension that we discovered when analysing our results was the role of the listener in the process. Normally, when engaging in conversations, sensemaking and sensegiving influence each other simultaneously (Rouleau, 2005). Thus, when one is telling a story,

sensemaking and sensegiving processes might influence the turn a story takes as stories are actively co-created (Maitlis & Christianson, 2014). When the entrepreneurs were telling their stories, the other entrepreneurs were instructed by the coach of the workshop to actively listen to the storytelling entrepreneur. We argue that this might have stimulated the sensemaking processes of the storytelling entrepreneur as this person was not interrupted or side-tracked by the others in the conversation. Thus, we argue that the level of co-creation might have been lower than in a normal conversation. Boje (1991) argues that this might have resulted in enhanced intrapersonal sensemaking processes as the teller engaged more in the active construction of the story told. In addition, we like to suggest that while entrepreneurs adopted the role of the listener during the workshop, this might have somehow stimulated the storytelling entrepreneur through cues via non-verbal language such as eye-contact and body language. We do like to stress that non-verbal language was also likely to influence the stimulation of, and triggered the telling of different stories, or even changing a story's plot for the storytelling entrepreneurs, as they might have been influenced by their adopted role within the team or the social norms of the context (Morgan et al., 2018).

While both intrapersonal and interpersonal sensemaking aspects can be identified from the above, interpersonal sensemaking aspects also became visible when we observed the entrepreneurs during the in-depth interviews which took place after the workshop. While they reflected on the workshop and their experiences, we observed that while telling us, they got lost in their own thoughts, and that, after they have been talking for a couple of minutes, they went completely silent and did not remember where they were actually going with their story. We assume here that the workshop triggered certain sensemaking processes, and that, because both sensemaking as well as identity construction are both fluid in nature (Watson & Harris, 1999), several entrepreneurs did not yet find the time to digest all of the information which was imposed on them during the workshop.

# 5.3. Identity motivates behaviour

It has been previously argued by writers (Dowen & Warren, 2008; Hytti, 2005) that, in order for entrepreneurs to establish their entrepreneurial identity, they must first identify themselves with entrepreneurs before becoming one. It appears that a consensus can be found among the existing

literature and the results of our empirical research, as they both demonstrate that the identification with entrepreneurship may be more challenging than one might expect beforehand. The in the literature addressed dominant discourses such as heroics and masculinity (Drakopoulou et al., 2007) became visible through statements of our interviewees such as ''swimming among a sea full of sharks'' (Simona, 2019). However, during the in-depth interviews, we noticed that most entrepreneurs expressed that through the workshop, they increased understanding of themselves and of their strengths. We argue that their understanding might have increased as creating life story narratives possibly led to emplotment of the self within entrepreneurship. Statements such as 'the computer understands me' and 'that's exactly who I am' were expressed, providing us with confirmation of increased understanding, nevertheless, leaving us as researchers with a big question mark.

When analysing these statements, we were intrigued by the level of reassurance the participants expressed they felt when seeing their values on paper and finding a story that correlated to why a certain value was of importance to them. Therefore, we are questioning whether 'seeing one's values on paper' and one's motivation for entrepreneurship could be seen as part of a reinforcing process. As, through the workshop, the life stories of the entrepreneurs enabled their construction of a narrative identity, subsequently leading towards perceived clarity of their inspired future (McAdams & McLean, 2013). Consequently, this inspired future was provided with meaning and direction (Barrett, 2007) through the plot the entrepreneurs created themselves. Additionally, Barrett (2007) argues that values are considered to be the drivers to achieve one's dreams, which subsequently became visible through the social construction, belief, and motivations of oneself. While the values appeared to serve as some sort of guidance and direction, we are wondering how the normative aspect of 'seeing the values on paper' might have influenced the answers of our interviewees. As one of the interviewees expressed, one might also easily believe a fortune teller as ''we wish [some things] to be like that'' (Chris). As one's need for self-confirmation is fulfilled through one's identity (Swann et al., 1989), it is considered to be a direct motivator for one's behaviour (Burke, 1991; Marcussen & Lange, 2003).

67

# 5.4. Narrative identity construction

As we have discussed, the entrepreneurs found themselves in an entrepreneurial sphere, network and team. Gergen (1991) argues that people establish their identity in relation to their context and interpersonal relationships. When we identified the two levels through which the individuals are influenced in terms of their self-image and (narrative) identity construction, namely interpersonal and intrapersonal, we were able to distinct four layers which we believe had an impact on the self emplotment of the entrepreneurs within the context of entrepreneurship. During the workshop, the entrepreneurs both influenced and were influenced by two layers, namely themselves and their team member(s), which we have touched upon in the previous section. Nevertheless, two more layers were identified, which are Starthub and the larger entrepreneurial sphere. We argue that these two other layers are likely to have a regulating effect on the entrepreneur's narrative identity. As Alvesson and Willmott (2002) indicate, identity regulation consists of the intentional effects of social practices on the construction of one's identity. Within Starthub, for example, the coaches steer the entrepreneurs into the "two sides of the same coin" (Nick), which can be understood as the focus on making money in this context. These social norms, such as the goal to earn money, can either become resources in the identity formation of the entrepreneurs as well as constraints as the entrepreneurs feel they have to comply with these rules (Watson, 2001).

According to Warren (2004b), changes in self-identity occur through social interactions with different groups that share social norms which might deviate from the entrepreneur's own. In line with this, Alvesson and Due Billing (2009) argue that these social structures and contexts constantly influence the norms of the entrepreneur, as well as recognise power relations in one's social context. We suggest that these power relations do have an impact on the self-identity of the entrepreneurs, where both coaches and other hub-members can be held responsible for. This conclusion can be derived from the fact that the majority of the entrepreneurs told us that they felt negatively affected by the atmosphere within the entrepreneurial hub, which was referred to as *'swimming among a sea full of sharks''* (Simona), as well as the strong emphasis on making money.

While the aim of the workshop was to enhance value congruence on several levels, one of the underlying objectives to do so was through identifying the normative, taken for granted beliefs

that entrepreneurs possess. The entrepreneurs engaged in identity work through which they aimed to revise or shape their (narrative) identity (Sveningsson & Alvesson, 2003), to eventually become one with the self as the values that 'belonged' to them were either perceived as contributing to, or inhibiting the entrepreneurs' self-image or identity. When talking to the entrepreneurs after the workshop, several explained that they perceived the interview sessions as therapy. During those 'therapy sessions', two different types of reactions regarding their narrative identity construction were identified. As touched upon before, some entrepreneurs felt reassured, while others were shocked and exclaimed "oh my god who am I?" (Amber). We argue that this discrepancy might have resulted from the normative aspects within the workshop itself. As the intention was to actively work on one's identity, the entrepreneurs were encouraged to find stories related to their values, which were then regarded as proof that the value was the personal value that belonged to the entrepreneur. As entrepreneurs are continuously looking for meaning while attempting to stay true to themselves (Karp, 2006), several interviewees perceived it to be difficult when an they were unable to find a story, as this was perceived to be wrong. We do consider this effect rather normative in itself as it cannot be this black and white and there might be other reasons why someone is unable to find a story at that specific moment. Nevertheless, this was perceived to be wrong, and the entrepreneurs were surprised that they might have carried values that were not their own. This also influenced the narrative identity that the entrepreneurs were creating.

### 5.5. Conclusion

In this chapter, we elaborated upon how a paradox seems to be present in the entrepreneurial life of the interviewees as they partly choose entrepreneurship for its freedom, but that through reflections during the workshop and interviews, they recognised how anxiety derived from this freedom. Existing literature adds to this paradox, arguing that storytelling can serve as a means for sensemaking in times of turbulence, a process that was put into practice during the workshop. Additionally, we have touched upon how storytelling during the workshop occurred in both individual and collective ways, and how a life story narrative was established through reflexive storytelling exercises. By doing so, we encountered how one's narrative identity arguably was reinforced by one's team members, but also how a setting in which the storyteller was not interrupted by others may have resulted in increased intrapersonal sensemaking processes while still influencing identity co-creation.

Furthermore, we identified a tension between how existing literature argues that people need to identify themselves with entrepreneurs before becoming one in order to avoid any conflicts, while most entrepreneurs did not view themselves as entrepreneurs before the workshop. The latter may partly be explained by the contemporary discourses in the entrepreneurial sphere, such as masculinity and earning money, which implicitly constrain entrepreneurs to identify themselves with the 'label' of entrepreneur. For the majority of the interviewees, the workshop served as confirmation of one's narrative identity as the values reinforced the view they had of themselves, thus increasing understanding through emplotment of the self. Finally, through identification of the four different layers which influence the (narrative) identity construction of entrepreneurs, the most significant factor that caught our eye was how both (social) norms and power relations affected the entrepreneur's narrative identity and how the normative aspect of the workshop arguably also had an effect on the narrative identity formation.

In summary, we have illustrated how the four different levels may have affected the creation of a narrative identity through storytelling, where the storytelling workshop served as a vehicle for reflection and sensemaking processes in order to engage in the emplotment of the self. We do like to stress that ambiguity exists on the interplay between the identified layers and the self, due to the fluid nature of sensemaking processes and (narrative) identity construction.

# 6. Conclusion

In this chapter we provide a conclusion of the research conducted. We will address the findings and highlight our contribution to the theory. Besides that, we provide options for future research.

### 6.1. Research contribution

The aim of this research was to enhance existing literature with new insights on how storytelling may serve as vehicle for narrative identity construction among young entrepreneurs. In order to do so, topics such as storytelling, entrepreneurship, sensemaking and narrative identity construction have been brought together as we aimed to understand how entrepreneurs constructed their narrative identity through storytelling. In order to merge these complex topics in our thesis, the following research question has been addressed by collecting rich data through interviews and observations:

How does sensemaking, based on storytelling, influence narrative identity construction of young entrepreneurs?

In our thesis, we have defined the concept of sensemaking according to the definitions of Weick (1995) and Dunford and Jones (2000), which entails that individuals create and shape meaning through both individual and social activities during social interactions. In our case, the social interactions were found to influence the individual as well as the collective sensemaking processes on four identified levels, which we defined as the entrepreneurial sphere, entrepreneurial hub (Starthub), the team and the self. Additionally, storytelling has been illustrated as both an individual as well as collective activity (Boje, 2001), carrying values, beliefs, experiences and emotions (Gabriel, 2000). The collective aspect of storytelling in this setting became evident through the role of the (active) listener, who influenced sensemaking processes and the way a story was told.

The initial aim of our research based on the storytelling workshop was to gain insight in the meaning of such workshop for (young) entrepreneurs and subsequently in their sensemaking processes and narrative identity construction. Throughout the research process, we were able to

elaborate upon this initial aim and as a result, we hereby attempt to draw upon the deeper levels which were identified. As our thesis' aim was to identify how one's narrative identity was influenced through a storytelling workshop, we identified how this storytelling workshop influenced the emplotment of oneself within entrepreneurship, and vice versa. The emplotment of oneself turned out to be influenced by both interpersonal as well as intrapersonal sensemaking aspects, which, we argue, in turn influence how one's narrative identity is established. More specifically, this process of emplotment could be considered as intrapersonal sensemaking as it implies the self, whereas the levels entrepreneurial sphere, Starthub and the entrepreneurial team are here considered as interpersonal levels as these influence the personal narrative identity construction of (young) entrepreneurs.

By merging the existing literature from different fields with our findings, we concluded that a spiral occurs when (young) entrepreneurs actively engage in storytelling exercises to enhance their (narrative) identity construction and self emplotment within entrepreneurship. Storytelling was used in the workshop as planned tool rather than naturally occurring and functioned as a vehicle to trigger sensemaking processes. From these sensemaking processes, we extracted the following themes to be influenced; (narrative) identity construction, learning and critical reflection. While, critically reflecting on their stories, the entrepreneurs either felt that these stories matched with their self-image or that a discrepancy was created, resulting in a moment of stress. Nevertheless, through both outcomes a sense of direction could be derived, which we argue, was in turn talked into existence when the entrepreneurs reflected on their experiences. Accordingly, talking this new sense of direction into existence might have resulted in action being triggered, which is in line with existing research conducted by Weick et al. (2005), who found that action-based language is a "springboard into action" (p.409). The next step in the identified process was that awareness and action became part of the aspired future, as "we all like to believe in fortune tellers" (Chris, 2019) because it provides one with a feeling of security or direction. Put differently, we assume that through the workshop, in which the entrepreneurs established their narrative identity, they perceived to have increased their self-understanding and as a result, they felt they were more able to clarify their goals towards their aspired future. By doing so and taking appropriate actions, either conscious or unconscious, we are therefore assuming that their (narrative) identity is reinforced through this self emplotment.

We do like to stress that the process of (narrative) identity construction is never occurring in such a linear or similar manner as described above, and that the situation explained above cannot be seen as a fixed process. On the contrary, we like to note that this process occurs rather nonlinear, messy and both conscious as well as unconscious. In addition, the situation above cannot be applied to any given context as both concepts of sensemaking and storytelling are very much influenced by the context in and through which they take place. Nevertheless, we identified the pattern described above as it is the ideal theoretical situation combined with the experiences from the entrepreneurs in- and around the storytelling workshop.

In conclusion, the paradox of freedom and anxiety within entrepreneurship has been found to cause insecurity among the young entrepreneurs. Not only the entrepreneurial environment was found to have an influence, also Starthub as well as team members affect the entrepreneur's levels of anxiety. Therefore, we argue that the storytelling workshop functioned as self-confirmation in the face of this anxiety as the entrepreneurs plotted their values into a narrative identity, providing them with a sense of direction.

## 6.2. Future research

As to date, similar research within the field of entrepreneurship can be considered limited, future research might benefit from providing more insight in processes such as sensemaking and narrative identity constructions within entrepreneurship through means of storytelling. First, we consider a longitudinal study to be appropriate in order to examine the long-term effects of constructing a narrative identity, both on the entrepreneurs as well as on their venture. Here, a similar workshop could be organised and repeated over time, in order to discover (if possible at all) its lasting meaning for entrepreneurs. As we discovered, the young entrepreneurs felt that narrative identity construction was an ongoing process which led to interesting and new insights. Besides this, other ways in which future research might enhance the existing literature may be through looking into other ways of how storytelling influences narrative identity construction. This may be done for example through gaining insight in the naturally occurring stories and narratives within entrepreneurship as here, the 'normative' aspect of 'having' to tell personal stories is not present, which might lead to new insights in the phenomenon of narrative identity construction. Moreover, since this research focused on one case study, future research focusing

on multiple case studies could contribute to the existing literature by taking into consideration entrepreneurs within, for example, different age ranges. The argumentation for this stems from research that argues that a narrative identity is developed through one's life course (McLean et al., 2007). Additionally, other forms of research could focus on entrepreneurs with more (substantial) experiences gained from their previous startups, thus targeting entrepreneurs who have been in the entrepreneurial sphere for a longer amount of time. As our results have shown that aspects such as anxiety, confirmation and direction played a considerable role in the lives of young entrepreneurs, it might be meaningful to discover whether these aspects may only be visible in the lives of young entrepreneurs or whether they are also detectable among other entrepreneurial groups who possess more or other experiences acquired in the field of entrepreneurship.

## Appendix A - Interviewees

Name	Number of team members
Anne	0
Simona	1
Maria	1
Peter	2
Jordi	1
Nick	1
Amber	0
Daniel	2
Jack	2
Agnes	1
Chris	2

## **Reference list**

- Adamson, G., Pine, J., Van Steenhoven, T. & Kroupa, J. (2006). How Storytelling Can Drive Strategic Change, *Strategy & Leadership*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp.36–41.
- Allcorn, S. & Stein, H. (2016). Organizations and their people, *Organizational & Social Dynamics*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp.19-38.
- Alvesson, M. (2010). Self-Doubters, Strugglers, Storytellers, Surfers and Others: Images of Self-Identities in Organization Studies, *Human Relations*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp.193–217.
- Alvesson, M. & Deetz, S. (2000). Doing Critical Management Research, London: Sage Publications.
- Alvesson, M. & Due Billing, Y. (2009). Understanding gender and organizations, London: SAGE Publications.
- Alvesson, M. & Willmott, H. (2002). Identity Regulation as Organizational Control: Producing the Appropriate Individual, *Journal of Management Studies*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp.619–644.
- Alvesson, M. and Sköldberg, K. (2018). Reflexive methodology: New Vistas for Qualitative Research. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Alvesson, M., Ashcraft, K. & Thomas, R. (2008). Identity Matters: Reflections on the Construction of Identity Scholarship in Organization Studies, *Organization*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp.5–28.
- Andrade, A. D. (2009). Interpretive Research Aiming at Theory Building: Adopting and Adapting the Case Study Design, *The Qualitative Report*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp.42–60.
- Baker, B. & Boyle, C. (2009). The Timeless Power of Storytelling, *Journal of Sponsorship*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp.79–87.
- Bala Subrahmanya, M. H. (2017). Comparing the Entrepreneurial Ecosystems for Technology Startups in Bangalore and Hyderabad, India, *Technology Innovation Management Review*, vol. 7, no. 7, pp.74-61.
- Barrett, R. (2007). Leadership and Values. In J. Marques & S. Dhiman (Eds.), *Leadership Today* (pp.59-74). Switzerland: Springer.
- Barthes, R. (1988). The Semiotic Challenge. Los Angeles, CA: University of California Press.
- Bettiol, M., Di Maria, E. & Finotto, V. (2012). Marketing in SMEs: The Role of Entrepreneurial Sensemaking, *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp.223–248.

- Bietti, L. M., Tilston, O. & Bangerter, A. (2018). Storytelling as Adaptive Collective Sensemaking, *Topics in Cognitive Science*, pp.1–23.
- Boje, D. M. (1991). The Storytelling Organization: A Study of Story Performance in an Office-Supply Firm, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp.106–126.
- Boje, D. M. (1995). Stories of the Storytelling Organization: A Postmodern Analysis, Academy of Management Journal, vol. 38, no. 4, pp.997–1035.
- Boje, D. M. (2001). Narrative Methods for Organizational and Communication Research, London: Sage.
- Boud, D., Keogh, R., & Walker, D. (1985) Reflection: Turning Experience into Learning. London, Kogan Page.
- Boyce, M. E. (1996). Organizational Story and Storytelling: A Critical Review, *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp.5–26.
- Brown, A. D. (2006). A narrative approach to collective identities. *Journal of Management Studies*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp.731–753.
- Brown, A. D., Gabriel, Y. & Gherardi, S. (2009). Storytelling and Change: An Unfolding Story, *Organization*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp.323–333.
- Bruner, J. (1990). Acts of meaning. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bryman, A. & Bell, E. (2015). Business Research Methods, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Burke, P. J. (1991). Identity Processes and Social Stress, *American Sociological Review* vol. 56, no.6, pp.836-849.
- Bushe, G. R. & Marshak, R. J. (2009). Revisioning Organisation Development: Diagnostic and Dialogic Premises and Patterns of Practice, *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp.348-368.
- Carr, N. A. & Ann, C. (2011). The use and abuse of storytelling in organizations, *Journal of Management Development*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp.236-246.
- Carr, N. A. & Lapp, C. A. (2009). Organization Theory and Organization Behavior: Through the Lens of Psychodynamics, *International Journal of Organization Theory & Behavior*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp.381–405.
- Cavana, R., Delahaye, B., & Sekaran, U. (2001). Applied Business Research: Qualitative and Quantitative Methods, Milton: John Wiley & Sons.

- Charmaz, K. (2002). Qualitative Interviewing and Grounded Theory Analysis. In J. F. Gubrium & J. A. Holstein (Eds.), *Handbook of Interview Research: Context & Method* (pp.675-694). London: Sage Publications.
- Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide Through Qualitative Analysis. London: Sage.
- Checkel, T. (1999). Social construction and integration, *Journal of European Public Policy*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp.545-560.
- Churchill, N.C. & Lewis, V. (1983). The Five Stages of Small Business Growth, *Harvard Business Review*, vol. 3.
- Cooper, S., Bottomley, C. & Gordon, J. (2004) Stepping out of the classroom and up the ladder of learning: An experiential learning approach to entrepreneurship education, *Industry & Higher Education*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 11-22.
- Cope, J. (2003). Entrepreneurial Learning and Critical Reflection: Discontinuous Events as Triggers for 'Higher-Level' Learning, *Management Learning*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp.429–450.
- Cope, J. (2005). Toward a Dynamic Learning Perspective of Entrepreneurship, *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp.373–397.
- Cope, J. & Watts, G. (2000). Learning by Doing An Exploration of Experience, Critical Incidents and Reflection in Entrepreneurial Learning, *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp.104–124.
- Cornelissen, J. P. (2012). Sensemaking under pressure: The influence of professional roles and social accountability on the creation of sense. *Organization Science*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp.118–137.
- Cornelissen, J. P. & Clarke, J. S. (2010). Imagining and Rationalizing Opportunities: Inductive Reasoning and the Creation and Justification of New Ventures, *Academy of Management Review*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp.539–557.
- Czarniawska, B. (2002). Narrative, interviews and organizations. In J. Gubrium & J. Holstein (Eds.), *Handbook of Interview Research Context and Method*, (pp.733-750). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Czarniawska, B. (2004). Narratives in Social Sciences Research, London: Sage.

- De Carolis, D. M. & Saparito, P. (2006). Social Capital, Cognition, and Entrepreneurial Opportunities: A Theoretical Framework, *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp.41–56.
- Deakins, D. & Freel, M. (1998). Entrepreneurial Learning and the Growth Process in SMEs, *The Learning Organization*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp.144–155.
- Down, S. & Warren, L. (2006). Constructing Narratives of Enterprise: Clichés and Entrepreneurial Self-identity, *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp.4–23.
- Drakopoulou, D. S., Dodd, S. & Anderson, A. (2007). Mumpsimus and the Mything of the Individualistic Entrepreneur, *International Small Business Journal*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp.341– 360.
- Driver, M. (2009). From Loss to Lack: Stories of Organizational Change as Encounters with Failed Fantasies of Self, Work and Organization, *Organization*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp.353–369.
- Dunford, R. & Jones, D. (2000). Narrative in Strategic Change. *Human Relations*, vol. 53, no.9, pp.1207–1226.
- Erlandson, D. A., Harris, E. L., Skipper, B. L. & Allen, S. D. (1993). Doing Naturalistic Inquiry: A Guide to Methods, Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Esposito, F., Ferilli, S., Basile, T. M. A. & Di Mauro, N. (2007). Inference of Abduction Theories for Handling Incompeteness in First-Order Learning, *Knowledge and Information Systems*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp.217–242.
- Fletcher, D. E. (2006). Entrepreneurial Processes and the Social Construction of Opportunity, *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp.421–440.
- Flick, U. (2009). An Introduction to Qualitative Research, Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- Flick, U. (2018). The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Collection, London: Sage Publications.
- Foss, L. (2004). 'Going Against the Grain...' Construction of Entrepreneurial Identity through Narratives. In D. Hjorth & C. Steyaert (Eds.), *Narrative and Discursive Approaches in Entrepreneurship*, (pp.80-104). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Foucault, M. (1982). The subject and power. In H. L. Dreyfus & P. Rabinow (Eds.), Michel Foucault: Beyond Structuralism and Hermeneutics, (pp.208-228). Hemel Hempstead: Harvester Press.

- Gabriel, Y. (1995). The Unmanaged Organization: Stories, Fantasies and Subjectivity, *Organization Studies*. vol. 16, no. 3, pp.477-501.
- Gabriel, Y. (2000). Storytelling in Organizations, Facts, Fictions, and Fantasies, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Gabriel, Y. (2004). Narratives, Stories and Texts. In d. Grant, C. Hardy, C. Oswick & L. L. Putnam (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Organizational Discourse*, (pp.61-78). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Gabriel, Y. & Connell, N. A. D. (2010). Co-Creating Stories: Collaborative Experiments in Storytelling, *Management Learning*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp.507–523.
- Gabriel, Y. & Ulus, E. (2015). "It's All in the Plot": Narrative Explorations of Work-Related Emotions. In H. Flam & J. Kleres (Eds.), *Methods of Exploring Emotions*, (pp.36–45). Abingdon: Routledge.
- Gaglio, C. M. (2004). The Role of Mental Simulations and Counterfactual Thinking in the Opportunity Identification Process, *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp.533–552.
- Gartner, W. B. (1989). "Who Is an Entrepreneur?" Is the Wrong Question, *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp.47–67.
- Garud, R., Gehman, J. & Giuliani, A. P. (2014). Contextualizing Entrepreneurial Innovation: A Narrative Perspective, *Research Policy*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp.1177–1188.
- Garud, R., Schildt, H. A. & Lant, T. K. (2014). Entrepreneurial Storytelling, Future Expectations, and the Paradox of Legitimacy, *Organization Science*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp.1479–1492.
- Gennari, S. P., MacDonald, M. C., Postle, B. R. & Seidenberg, M. S. (2007). Context-Dependent Interpretation of Words: Evidence for Interactive Neural Processes, *NeuroImage*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp.1278–1286.
- Gergen, K. (1991). The Saturated Self: Dilemmas of Identity in Contemporary Life, New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Gergen, K. J. and Gergen, M. M. (1988). Narrative and the self as relationship. Advances in *Experimental Social Psychology*, vol. 21, pp.17–55.
- Gibb, A. A. (1997). Small firms' Training and Competitiveness: Building on the Small Business as a Learning Organization, *International Small Business Journal*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp.13–29.

- Giddens, A. (1991). Modernity and Self-Identity: Self and Society in the Late Modern Age, Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Gioia, D. A. & Chittipeddi, K. (1991). Sensemaking and Sensegiving in Strategic Change Initiation, *Strategic Management Journal*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp.433–448.
- Gioia, D. A. & Mehra, A. (1996). Review of "Sensemaking in Organizations", Academy of Management Review, vol. 21, no. 4, pp.1226–1230.
- Gioia, D. A. & Thomas, J. B. (1996). Identity, Image, and Issue Interpretation: Sensemaking During Strategic Change in Academia, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp.370-403
- Giuliani, M. (2016). Sensemaking, Sensegiving and Sensebreaking: The Case of Intellectual Capital Measurements, *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp.218–237.
- Glesne, C. (2011). Becoming Qualitative Researchers: An Introduction, Boston: Pearson Education.
- Gray, D. E. (2007). Facilitating Management Learning: Developing Critical Reflection Through Reflective Tools, *Management Learning*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp.495–517.
- Green, S. E. (2004), A Rhetorical Theory of Diffusion, *Academy of Management Review*, vol. 29 no. 4, pp.653-669.
- Gubrium, J. F., & Holstein, J. A. (1998). Narrative Practice and the Coherence of Personal Stories, *The Sociological Quarterly*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp.163-187.
- Hambrick, D. C. & Lovelace, J. B. (2018). The Role of Executive Symbolism in Advancing New Strategic Themes in Organizations: A Social Influence Perspective, *Academy of Management Review*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp.110-131.
- Hamilton, E. (2006). Whose Story Is It Anyway? Narrative Accounts of the Role of Women in Founding and Establishing Family Businesses, *International Small Business Journal*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp.253–271.
- Harré, R. (2002). Public Sources of the Personal Mind: Social Constructionism in Context, *Theory & Psychology*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp.611–623.
- Hill, R. C. & Levenhagen, M. (1995). Metaphors and Mental Models: Sensemaking and Sensegiving in Innovative and Entrepreneurial Activities, *Journal of Management*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp.1057–1074.
- Hytti, U. (2005). New Meanings for Entrepreneurs: From Risk-Taking Heroes to Safe-Seeking Professionals, *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp.594–611.

- Illeris, K. (2014). Transformative Learning and Identity, *Journal of Transformative Education*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp.148–163.
- Johannisson, B. (2011). Towards a Practice Theory of Entrepreneuring, *Small Business Economics*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp.135–150.
- Johansson, A. W. (2004). Narrating the Entrepreneur, *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp.273–293.
- Jones, C. & English, J. (2004). A Contemporary Approach to Entrepreneurship Education, *Education* + *Training*, vol. 46, no. 8/9, pp.416–423.
- Jones, R., Latham, J. & Betta, M. (2008). Narrative Construction of the Social Entrepreneurial Identity, *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp.330–345.
- Kaish, S. & Gilad, B. (1991). Characteristics of Opportunity Searches of Entrepreneurs Versus Executives: Sources, Interests and General Alertness. *Journal of Business Venturing*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp.45-61.
- Kalyanasundaram, G. (2018). Why Do Startups Fail? A Case Study Based Empirical Analysis in Bangalore, *Asian Journal of Innovation and Policy*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp.79–102.
- Karp, T. (2006). The Inner Entrepreneur: A Constructivistic View of Entrepreneurial Reality Construction, *Journal of Change Management*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp.291–304.
- Kaye, M. (1995). Organisational Myths and Storytelling as Communication Management: A Conceptual Framework for Learning an Organisation's Culture, *Journal of the Australian and New Zealand Academy of Management*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp.1–13.
- Kearney, R. (2002). On Stories, London: Routledge.
- Klein, H. K. & Myers, M. D. (1999). A Set of Principles for Conducting and Evaluating Interpretive Field Studies in Information Systems, *MIS Quarterly*, vol. 23, no. 1, p.67.
- Klein, H. K. & Myers, M. D. (2001). A Classification Scheme for Interpretive Research in Information Systems. In E. M. Trauth (Eds.), *Qualitative Research in IS: Issues and Trends*, (pp.218-239). Hershey, PA: Idea Group Publishing.
- Kolb, D. G. (2003). Seeking Continuity Amidst Organizational Change: A Storytelling Approach, *Journal of Management Inquiry*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp.180–183.

- Kvale, S. (1983). The Qualitative Research Interview: A Phenomenological and Hermeneutical Mode of Understanding, *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp.171– 196.
- Larty, J. & Hamilton, E. (2011). Structural Approaches to Narrative Analysis in Entrepreneurship Research: Exemplars from Two Researchers, *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp.220–237.
- Lewis, P. J. (2011). Storytelling as Research/Research as Storytelling, *Qualitative Inquiry*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp.505–510.
- Maclean, M., Harvey, C. & Chia, R. (2011). Sensemaking, Storytelling and the Legitimization of Elite Business Careers, *Human Relations*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp.17–40.
- Maitlis, S. & Christianson, M. (2014). Sensemaking in organizations: taking stock and moving forward, *The Academy of Management Annals*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp.57-125.
- Maitlis, S. & Lawrence, T. B. (2007). Triggers And Enablers Of Sensegiving In Organizations, Academy of Management Journal, vol. 50, no. 1, pp.57–84.
- Manning, S. & Bejarano, T. A. (2017). Convincing the Crowd: Entrepreneurial Storytelling in Crowdfunding Campaigns, *Strategic Organization*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp.194–219.
- Marcussen, K. & M. D. Large. (2003). Using Identity Discrepancy Theory to Predict Psychological Distress. In P. J. Burke, T. J. Owens, R. T. Serpe & P. A. Thoits (Eds.), *Advances in Identity Theory and Research*, (pp.151-164). New York, NY: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Martens, M. L., Jennings, J. E. & Jennings, P. D. (2007). Do the Stories They Tell Get Them the Money They Need? The Role of Entrepreneurial Narratives in Resource Acquisition, *Academy of Management Journal*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp.1107–1132.
- McAdams, D. P. (2018). Narrative Identity: What Is It? What Does It Do? How Do You Measure It?, *Imagination, Cognition and Personality*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp.359–372.
- McAdams, D. P. & McLean, K. C. (2013). Narrative Identity, *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp.233–238.
- McLean, K. C. & Pasupathi, M. (2011). Old, new, borrowed, blue? The Emergence and Retention of Personal Meaning in Autobiographical Storytelling. *Journal of Personality*, vol. 79, no. 1, pp.135–163.

- McLean, K. C., Pasupathi, M. & Pals, J. L. (2007). Selves Creating Stories Creating Selves: A Process Model of Self-Development, *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp.262–278.
- Mezirow, J. (1991). Transformative dimensions of adult learning, San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative Data Analysis, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Miley, F. (2009). The Storytelling Project: Innovating to Engage Students in Their Learning, *Higher Education Research & Development*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp.357–369.
- Mills, J. H. (2003). Making Sense of Organizational Change. Routledge, London, UK.
- Mitchell, R. K., Randolph-Seng, B. & Mitchell, J. R. (2011). Socially Situated Cognition: Imagining New Opportunities for Entrepreneurship Research, Academy of Management Review, vol. 36, no. 4, pp.774–776.
- Morgan, S., Pittenger, K. K. S. & McIntyre, N. (2018). Storytelling An Effective Tool For Moving the Needle towards Engaged Learning, *Developments in Business Simulation and Experiential Learning*, vol. 45, pp.180–183.
- Nicholson, L. & Anderson, A. R. (2005). News and Nuances of the Entrepreneurial Myth and Metaphor: Linguistic Games in Entrepreneurial Sense-Making and Sense-Giving, *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp.153–172.
- O'Connor E. S. (2004). Storytelling to be real: Narrative, legitimacy building and venturing. In D. Hjorth & C. Steyaert (Eds.), *Narrative and Discursive Approaches in Entrepreneurship*, (pp.105-124). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- O'Connor, E. S. (2002). Storied Business: Typology, Intertextuality and Traffic in Entrepreneurial Narrative, *Journal of Business Communication*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp.36–55.
- O'Connor, E. S. (2007). Reader Beware: Doing Business with a Store(y) of Knowledge, *Journal of Business Venturing*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp.637–648.
- Ozgen, E. & Baron, R. A. (2007). Social Sources of Information in Opportunity Recognition: Effects of Mentors, Industry Networks, and Professional Forums, *Journal of Business Venturing*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp.174–192.
- Politis, D. & Gabrielsson, J. (2009). Entrepreneurs' attitudes towards failure: an experiential learning approach, *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior and Research*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp.364-383.

- Prasad, P. (2018). Crafting Qualitative Research, Beyond Positivist Traditions, New York, NY: Routledge.
- Rae, D. (2000). Understanding Entrepreneurial Learning: A Question of How?, International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research, vol. 6, no. 3, pp.145–159.
- Rae, D. (2004). Entrepreneurial Learning: A Practical Model from the Creative Industries, *Education* + *Training*, vol. 46, no. 8/9, pp.492–500.
- Rae, D. & Carswell, M. (2000). Using a Life-story Approach in Researching Entrepreneurial Learning: The Development of a Conceptual Model and Its Implications in the Design of Learning Experiences, *Education* + *Training*, vol. 42, no. 4/5, pp.220–228.
- Read, S. & Sarasvathy, S. D. (2005). Knowing What to Do and Doing What You Know: Effectuation as a Form of Entrepreneurial Expertise, *The Journal of Private Equity*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp.45–62.
- Rennstam, J. & Wästerfors, D. (2015). Analyze! Crafting Your Data in Qualitative Research, Studentlitteratur: Lund.
- Rhodes, C. & Brown, A. D. (2005). Narrative, Organizations and Research, *International Journal of Management Reviews*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp.167–188.
- Rouleau, L. (2005). Micro-practices of strategic sensemaking and sensegiving: How Middle Managers Interpret and Sell Change Every Day. *Journal of Management Studies*, vol. 42, no. 7, pp.1413–43.
- Saldaña, J. (2013). The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers, Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Scotland, J. (2012). Exploring the Philosophical Underpinnings of Research: Relating Ontology and Epistemology to the Methodology and Methods of the Scientific, Interpretive, and Critical Research Paradigms, *English Language Teaching*, vol. 5, no. 9, pp. 9-16.
- Scott, M. & Bruce, R. (1987). Five Stages of Growth Business, *Long Range Planning*, vol. 203, no. 3, pp.45–52.
- Shane, S. & Venkataraman, S. (2000). The Promise of Entrepreneurship as a Field of Research, *The Academy of Management Review*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp.217–226.
- Shepherd, D. A. & Krueger, N. F. (2002). An Intentions–Based Model of Entrepreneurial Teams' Social Cognition, *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp.167–185.
- Skoldberg, K. (1994). Tales of Change: Public Administration Reform and Narrative Mode, *Organization Science*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp.219–238.

- Sonenshein, S. (2007). The role of Construction, Intuition, and Justification in Responding to Ethical Issues at Work: the Sensemaking-Intuition Mode, *Academy of Management Review*, vol. 32 no. 4, pp.1022-1040.
- Sonenshein, S. (2010). We're Changing Or Are We? Untangling the Role of Progressive, Regressive, and Stability Narratives During Strategic Change Implementation, Academy of Management Journal, vol. 53, no. 3, pp.477-512.
- Steigenberger, N. (2015). Emotions in Sensemaking: A Change Management Perspective, *Journal* of Organizational Change Management, vol. 28, no. 3, pp.432–451.
- Stewart, A. J. and McDermott, C. (2004). Gender in Psychology, *Annual Review of Psychology*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp.519-544.
- Steyaert, C. (1998) A Qualitative Methodology for Process Studies of Entrepreneurship, *International Studies of Management and Organisation*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp.13–33.
- Steyaert, C. (2004). The Prosaics of Entrepreneurship. (Eds). In D. Hjorth & C. Steyaert (Eds.), Narrative and Discursive Approaches in Entrepreneurship, (pp.8-21). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Steyaert, C. (2007). 'Entrepreneuring' as a Conceptual Attractor? A Review of Process Theories in 20 Years of Entrepreneurship Studies, *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp.453–477.
- Stone, M. M. & Brush, C. G. (1996). Planning in Ambiguous Contexts: the Dilemma of Meeting Needs for Commitment and Demands for Legitimacy. *Strategic Management Journal*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp.633–652.
- Suchman, M. C. (1995). Managing legitimacy: Strategic and institutional approaches, *The Academy of Management Review*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp.571–610.
- Sugiyama, M. S. (2001). Food, foragers, and folklore: The role of narrative in human subsistence, *Evolution and Human Behavior*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp.221–240.
- Sveningsson, S. & Alvesson, M. (2003). Managing Managerial Identities: Organizational Fragmentation, Discourse and Identity Struggle, *Human Relations*, vol. 56, no. 10, pp.1163– 1193.
- Sveningsson, S. & Sörgärde, N. (2013). Organizational Change Management. In L. Strannegård & A. Styhre (Eds.), *Management: An advanced introduction*, (pp.57-74). Lund: Studentlitteratur.

- Swann, W. B., Pelham, B. W. & Krull, D. S. (1989). Agreeable Fancy or Disagreeable Truth? Reconciling Self-Enhancement and Self-Verification, *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp.782–791.
- Taylor, J. R. & van Every, E. J. (2000). The Emergent Organization: Communication as Its Site and Surface. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Taylor, S. S., Fisher, D. & Dufresne, R. L. (2002). The Aesthetics of Management Storytelling, Management Learning, vol. 33, no. 3, pp.313–330.
- Vaara, E. & Monin, P. (2010). A recursive perspective on discursive legitimation and organizational action in Mergers and acquisitions, *Organization Science*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp.3-22.
- Van Lier, L. (2007). Action-Based Teaching, Autonomy and Identity, *Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp.46–65.
- Vance, C. M. (1991). Formalising Storytelling in Organisations: A Key Agenda for the Design of Training, *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp.52–58.
- Warren, L. (2004a). A Systemic Approach to Entrepreneurial Learning: An Exploration Using Storytelling, Systems Research and Behavioral Science, vol. 21, no. 1, pp.3–16.
- Warren, L. (2004b). Negotiating Entrepreneurial Identity: Communities of Practice and Changing Discourses, *The International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp.25–35.
- Watson, T. J. (2001). The emergent manager and processes of management pre-learning, *Management Learning*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp.221–35.
- Watson, T. J. (2008). Managing Identity: Identity Work, Personal Predicaments and Structural Circumstances, *Organization*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp.121–143.
- Watson, T. J. (2009). Narrative, life story and manager identity: A case study in autobiographical identity work, *Human Relations*, vol. 6, no.3, pp.425-452.
- Watson, T. J. & Harris, P. (1999). The Emergent Manager, London: Sage.
- Weick, K. E. (1995). Sensemaking in Organizations, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Weick, K. E., Sutcliffe, K. M. & Obstfeld, D. (2005). Organizing and the Process of Sensemaking, Organization Science, vol. 16, no. 4, pp.409-421.

- Wertz, F. J., Charmaz, K., McMullen, L. M., Josselson, R., Anderson, R. & McSpadden, E. (2011).
  Five Ways of Doing Qualitative Analysis: Phenomenological Psychology, Grounded Theory,
  Discourse Analysis, Narrative Research, and Intuitive Inquiry, New York, NY: Guilford.
- West, S. & Anthony, M. (2000). Storyselling for Financial Advisors: How Top Producers Sell, Chicago, IL: Dearborn.
- Weston, C., Gandell, T., Beauchamp, J., McAlpine, L., Wiseman, C. & Beauchamp, C. (2001). Analyzing Interview Data: The Development and Evolution of a Coding System, *Qualitative Sociology*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp.381–400.
- Wood, M. S. & McKinley, W. (2010). The Production of Entrepreneurial Opportunity: A Constructivist Perspective, *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp.66–84.
- Young, R. A. & Collin, A. (2003). Introduction: Constructivism and Social Constructionism in the Career Field, *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp.373–388.